







Civil Service Reform in Afghanistan:

Roles and Functions of the Civil Service Sector

Sayed Hashmatullah Hashimi and Gerhard Lauth

August 2016







Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit and German Federal Ministry of Economic Cooperation and Development Issues Paper

Civil Service Reform in Afghanistan:

Roles and Functions of the Civil Service Sector

Sayed Hashmatullah Hashimi and Gerhard Lauth

August 2016



ISBN 978-9936-628-26-7 (ebook)

Publication Code 1616E

Editor Victoria Grace

Cover Photos President Ashraf Ghani's meeting with IARCSC management

(©ARG, Kabul, 2016); hospital in Faizabad (©www.ez-afghanistan. de, Badakhshan, 2011); training for community policing (©www.ez-afghanistan.de, Badakhshan); Afghanistan Civil Service

Institute (by Sayed Hashmatullah Hashimi, Kabul, 2016).

©2016 Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit and Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH

This publication may be quoted, cited or reproduced only for non-commercial purposes and provided that the authors and source are acknowledged. The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the German Federal Ministry of Economic Cooperation and Development, AREU and GIZ. Some rights are reserved. Where this publication is reproduced, stored or transmitted electronically, a link to AREU's website (www. areu.org.af) and GIZ (www.giz.de) should be provided. Any use of this publication falling outside of these permissions requires prior written permission of the co-publishers, the Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit and GIZ. Permission can be sought by emailing areu@areu.org.af or by calling +93 (0) 20 221 24 15.

About the Authors

Sayed Hashmatullah Hashimi has been involved in public administration reform in the Afghan civil service sector for almost 10 years. He has developed numerous reform plans for civil service ministries and independent agencies under the Capacity-Building for Results programme in the Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission.

He has worked as a Human Resource Management Advisor for the Ministry of Agriculture, Irrigation, and Livestock under the World Bank and United States Department of Agriculture and has assisted in the establishment and strengthening of the Human Resource Directorate and the implementation of reforms in the ministry.

He has also worked as a Human Resource Director for the Afghan Independent Human Rights Commission and as a Public Administration Reform Advisor for the Civil Service Management Department of the Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission.

Gerhard Lauth is an independent consultant and former Mayor and Lord Mayor of the cities of Waldenburg and Mosbach in Germany. Among others, he has worked for GIZ's decentralisation programmes in Ghana and Tanzania. In addition to his senior positions in development cooperation, Gerhard Lauth has been a lecturer of public administration and public financial management at the Karlsruhe College of Higher Education for the Civil Service. He continues to contribute to global capacity-building projects using his hands-on local government experience.

About the Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit

The Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit (AREU) is an independent research institute based in Kabul. AREU's mission is to inform and influence policy and practice by conducting high-quality, policy-relevant research and actively disseminating the results, and by promoting a culture of research and learning. To achieve its mission AREU engages with policy makers, civil society, researchers, and students to promote their use of AREU's research and its library, to strengthen their research capacity, and to create opportunities for analysis, reflection, and debate.

AREU was established in 2002 by the assistance community in Afghanistan and has a Board of Directors comprised of representatives of donor organisations, the United Nations and other multilateral agencies, and non-governmental organisations.

Specific projects in 2016 are being funded by the European Union (EU), the Overseas Development Institute (ODI), PROMOTE under the Unites States Agency for International Development (Tetra Tech-WLD), Security Governance Group (SGG), United States Institute of Peace (USIP), German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH, International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre (CIMMYT), Netherlands Organisations for Scientific Research (NWO), and War Child UK-Afghanistan.



Foreword

My warmest congratulations to Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit (AREU) for coming up with a substantive paper that aimed to conduct a broader analysis of the civil service and key policy reform processes in the sector. The government's mandate is to establish a service-oriented, and accountable civil service in the framework of good governance. As a consequence, the government ensures more effective and efficient utilisation of public resources for basic services delivery, enhance revenue generation, and support the development of the private sector for national economic and social development. This paper provides relevant inputs for the government's greater goal that the basic rights of Afghan citizens to participate and benefit from development are realised.

Further, the paper highlights the obstacles and challenges hampering the implementation of reform initiatives. Recommendations are proposed on how to overcome the hesitant reform process and accelerate the implementation of CSR programmes where some of which have long existed.

The Govern4Afg, which is being launched by German and Afghan partners, is very timely, as it provides a platform for policy dialogue on governance topics in our country. Researchers and policymakers provide evidence-based inputs to foster dialogue aiming to strengthen development cooperation in the governance sector.

Since its establishment in 2002 the Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission (IARCS), which has been mandated by law to lead the process of CSR has initiated and realized a number of structural reforms. In the past, reform has been strongly donor led with the consequence of establishing parallel administrative structures. In general, all attempted reforms resulted in some positive outcomes, but have not led to the development of a sustainable civil service capacity.

Lastly, I hope that through platforms like Govern4Afg, more dialogues occur at the subnational level, because a better understanding of the issues of governance, planning, and budgeting is thought to proactively support the reform agenda of the Afghan government.

Nader Nadery

Chief Advisor to the President

Public and Strategic Affairs and Ambassador-at-Large for Freedom of Expression

August 2016

Foreword

Govern4Afg (Governance Forum Afghanistan) as a dialogue platform supports policy reform and implementation in the governance sector of Afghanistan. Good governance, rule of law, accountability, and transparency are of paramount importance to the development and stability of Afghanistan. The Afghan people need to regain confidence in state institutions, corruption needs to be fought effectively, and reforms need to improve people's daily lives. It is not enough for reforms to be drafted on paper; their implementation must take place in the villages and towns of Afghanistan.

The objective of the Govern4Afg platform is to foster policy dialogue between Afghan and German "drivers of change" in the field of good governance. Researchers and policymakers from both countries provide evidence-based input to foster high-level dialogue and consultation in the governance sector. Thus, policy discussions are undergoing a reality check. Ultimately, the platform serves as a vehicle for the implementation of the BMZ Country Strategy for Afghan-German Development Cooperation 2014-17.

Following the successful launch workshop in early 2015, six topics (Provincial Planning and Budgeting, Gender Responsive Budgeting, Mineral Governance, Subnational Governance, Civil Society, and Civil Service Reform) were selected for in-depth dialogue based on Afghan and German priorities. In the course of 2015, research teams from both countries provided expertise and facilitated discussions between experts and practitioners through several open dialogue panels and other consultation methods, and prepared issues papers with recommendations for policy dialogue.

The German government expresses its wish for these issues papers to foster further discussion in Afghanistan and enhance donor engagement in the sector.

On this issue paper

In 2014, the National Unity Government of Afghanistan presented its reform paper, "Realizing Self Reliance: Commitments to Reforms and Renewed Partnership," to the London Conference on Afghanistan. According to this paper, one major objective of the National Unity Government is to improve its public governance and establish a legitimate, non-political, stable, service-oriented, and accountable civil service. Despite substantial improvement in many areas of national governance, the process of civil service reform has been rather slow, and considerable challenges still remain.

This issue paper on civil service reform in Afghanistan, presented to the public in September 2016, provides a comprehensive overview of the status quo of the civil service sector in Afghanistan. It results from an in-depth empirical research of the existing legal framework of the civil service sector accompanied by numerous interviews and an open dialogue event with national and international stakeholders.

Building on the insights of the Govern4Afg dialogue and consultations, this issue paper analyses the legal framework of civil service sector, identifies challenges hampering the implementation of reform, and proposes means to strengthen the civil service ministries and agencies within the National Unity Government.

The major challenges are, above all, the lack of political will, leadership, and commitment to civil service reform as well as a deficient legal and regulatory framework. Furthermore, the functions and roles of the different actors involved are blurred, and weaknesses in human resource management add to the matter's intricacy. The Govern4Afg research team defined several key recommendations in this respect.

- To avoid any overlapping competences, the President should establish a Coordinating Committee to push for, supervise, and evaluate the creation and implementation of measures for civil service reform.
- The Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission should remain as the leading agency for civil service reform, although it needs to be strengthened and supported by the entire government.
- It is crucial to establish a clear legal framework. Therefore, three key laws need to be approved and enforced: the Organic Law, which shapes the core structure of governance in Afghanistan by assigning and distributing mandates and roles to governmental entities, the Administrative Procedure Law, and the Civil Servants Law.
- Finally, a dual approach, involving the gradual implementation of long-term reform guided by the presidential level and the application of quick-win restructuring opportunities, is likely to introduce a sustainable path for reform.

This paper will serve as a basis for further dialogue, not only within the Govern4Afg context, but also between the government institutions of Afghanistan and within the donor community and academia. A broad dissemination of this issue paper will foster discussions and policy reforms on and between various levels. Govern4Afg will resume discussions during the course of 2016 along with newly identified topics.

Klaus Krämer

Claus hours

Head of Development Cooperation Embassy of the Federal Republic of Germany Kabul

August 2016

Table of Contents

About	the Au	thors	i			
About	the Afg	ghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit	ii			
Forew	ords		. iii			
Acron	yms		viii			
	-					
	•	nmary				
1.	Introduction					
2.	Govern	nance in Afghanistan				
	2.1	Background				
	2.2	Public administration system				
	2.3	Civil service sector: Structure and functions				
		Ministries	9			
		Independent agencies				
		Overlaps and duplications in the civil service sector				
3.	Civil Se	ervice Reform in Afghanistan				
	3.1	Legal framework for civil service reform				
	3.1	Constitution				
		Organic Law				
		Draft Administrative Procedure Law				
		Civil Servants Law				
	3.2	Laws applicable to the civil service sector	. 17			
	3.3	Major public administration reform programs in the civil service sector				
		Priority restructuring and reform programme				
		Pay and grading				
		Next Generation of Public Administration Reform	. 22			
		Capacity-building to facilitate results				
4.	Challer	nges				
1.	4.1	Civil service policy				
		Legal framework				
	4.3	Structural and managerial issues				
	4.4	Business processes				
	4.5	Civil servants.				
	4.6	Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission				
5.	Conclu	sion and Recommendations				
	5.1	Legal framework	. 32			
	5.2	Structural and management issues				
	5.3	Capacity-building and training	35			
	5.4	Pay and grading system	35			
	5.5	Appointment process	36			
	5.6	Accountability	36			
	5.7	Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission				
	5.8	Private sector				
	5.9	General recommendations	38			

Appendix: Roles and Functions of the Civil Service Ministries	39
Bibliography	45
Additional Reading Material	46
Tables	
Table 1: Applicable regulatory documents in the civil service sector	18

Acronyms

AREU Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit

BMZ German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development

CBR Capacity-building for results

CEO Chief Executive Officer
CSR Civil service reform

GIZ Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH

Govern4Afg Governance Forum Afghanistan

IARCSC Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission

IDLG Independent Directorate of Local Governance

KII Key informant interview

MoF Ministry of Finance
MoJ Ministry of Justice

MoPH Ministry of Public Health

NGO Non-governmental organisation

NGPAR Next Generation of Public Administration Reform

NTA National technical assistant
NUG National Unity Government

P&G Pay and Grading

PAR Public administration reform

PRR Priority restructuring and reform

Glossary

Mujahideen Holy fighter who fought against the Russian invasion in Afghanistan

Loya Jirga Grand Council

Wolesi Jirga House of the People

Meshrano Jirga House of Elders

Tashkeel Organisational structure showing division of functions and official

hierarchy in an organization

Executive Summary

During the period of transition (2001-14), Afghanistan made great progress in terms of development. The 2001 Bonn Conference set in motion a chain of policy frameworks, with the establishment of a more effective civil service being one of the government's priorities. In December 2014, based on the Kabul and London Conferences on Afghanistan, the Afghan National Unity Government (NUG) released its reform programme known as "Realizing Self-Reliance," thus marking the beginning of the so-called "decade of transformation" (2014-25).

One major objective of the NUG has been to build an Afghan state that respects, protects, and guarantees human rights, provides security, and is recognised by its citizens as their legitimate representative and provider of services that meet their basic needs. A well-organised and functioning civil service is crucial in this regard, as it is the government's main tool to implement its policies and provide public services to people all over the country.

It is obvious that the government has made huge achievements in terms of reforms. Substantial steps in reconstruction have been achieved, and the progress made on economic, social, and democratic development is remarkable. However, despite substantial improvement in many areas of national governance, especially in civil service reform (CSR), the entire process has been rather slow, and considerable challenges still remain. The provision of political, social, and economic goods to the population as well as the delivery of public services has, in general, fallen far short of expectations.

The government aims to establish a legitimate, non-political, stable, service-oriented, and accountable civil service in the framework of good governance, with the aim to use public resources more effectively and efficiently for basic services delivery, enhance revenue generation, and support the development of the private sector for national economic and social development. The greater goal is to ensure that the basic rights of Afghan citizens to participate in and benefit from development are realised.

Since its establishment in 2002, the Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission (IARCSC), mandated to lead the CSR process, has initiated and realised a number of CSR programmes. But there can be little doubt that reforms, at least in the past, have often been strongly donor-led with the establishment of parallel administrative system.

Objectives of the research

This issue paper aims to conduct a broader analysis of the civil service and key policy reform processes in the sector. It seeks to understand the functions and role of the civil service sector and identify mechanisms to foster multi-level service delivery at both national and subnational levels. Finally, it provides suggestions on strengthening public administration reforms in the civil service sector in the context of the NUG's political agenda.

Methodology

The research team assessed the existing legal and regulatory framework and scrutinised the government's strategies and programmes. It reviewed reports and relevant academic articles produced by national institutes and international development agencies.

Moreover, the team conducted key informant interviews with public administration officials and academics on civil service issues. In addition, the research team also held an open dialogue event with representatives from the government, donor organisations, and civil society, as well as national and international experts on the civil service sector. The objective of the event was to discuss the current challenges and obstacles to civil service reform and develop suggestions and recommendations on how to reform and strengthen the civil service sector.

Key findings

Based on the desk research and results from the interviews and discussion process, key obstacles and challenges were identified. Among the obstacles and challenges hampering the CSR process, the following major issues were identified:

· Lack of political and managerial will and commitment for CSR

There is lack of clear leadership and willingness for CSR, and there is no whole-of-government approach toward reforms. In addition, the structures and procedures for effective coordination at the political and administrative levels do not exist, while there is an emphasis on event-oriented decisions, improvisation, quick fixes, and externally driven projects rather than a continuous CSR.

· Lack of a proper legal and regulatory framework

The Organic Law and Civil Servants Law are not yet in place or need to be revised. These laws define the functions and structure of civil service ministries and human resource management in the civil service sector.

Weak leadership and multiple interferences in the reform process

The prime responsibility of the IARCSC has been weakened by a proliferation of actors, agencies, and international donor organisations.

Unclear understanding of reforms in the civil service

There have not been clear long-term or, at least, intermediate-term results or outcomes from the reform initiatives and programmes in the civil sector.

Duplications and overlaps of functions and roles among civil service ministries and agencies

The lack of a common framework for the administration of civil service entities is mainly due to the deficiency of the Organic Law and the unclear division of competences between ministries (parallel structures, overlapping competences, and "turf wars"). In addition, donor agencies create autonomous parallel executive structures within ministries, with staff not aligned to the civil service sector.

Complex service delivery and business processes

A large number of lengthy and complicated service delivery and administrative procedures undermines both the quality and operational performance of service delivery and increases the potential for corruption.

· Complexity in human resource management

Practices of nepotism and hiring based on ethnicity are common, and there is lack of a consistent and transparent merit-based appointment process in the civil service. Multiple and concurrent donor-funded pay scales and the proliferation of super-scales have led to the rise of parallel services (secondary civil service). Career development is not encouraged in the current system, and a comprehensive capacity-building and training policy does not exist; little attention is given to the conditions under which staff can work effectively.

Nevertheless, there is an impressive number of excellent analyses, studies, strategies, and detailed programmes ready for implementation. However, the process of implementation varies from sluggish to negligent with delaying tactics. There is also a massive gap between the planning and implementation of CSR.

Key recommendations

The civil service as the visible and acting tool of the government has to contribute toward improving the quality and reliability of services to citizens and businesses. Services that implement measures to reduce poverty, combat corruption, improve living standards, and enhance private sector development are indeed crucial for the improvement and development of the country. Therefore, the entire government should focus on CSR.

In order to stress the importance of CSR and prevent any interference or overlapping competences, the President should establish a Coordinating Committee consisting of the relevant ministries and agencies chaired by the President and/or the Chief Executive Officer of the NUG. This Coordination Committee could expedite, supervise, and evaluate the creation and implementation of CSR measures.

The most relevant recommendations for strengthening CSR are as thus:

- Visible willingness, commitment, and support for CSR at the top political level;
- Establishment of a clear vision and determined strategy for a whole-of-government approach to CSR;
- Creation of an adequate legal framework for public administration reforms in the civil service;
- Explicit allocation of competences and responsibilities in civil service ministries and agencies;
- Right-sizing of the organisational structure and optimisation of work processes in the civil service sector;
- Establishment and guarantee of fair, transparent, merit-based appointment procedures, with a consideration for gender equality;
- · Adequate and unified pay and grade system;
- Capacity-building and training of civil servants;
- Establishment of a sense of commitment, motivation, and civic responsibility among civil servants;
- Simplification of the key service delivery processes;
- Division of the political and technical layers in the civil service sector;
- Elimination of overlaps and duplications;
- High accountability and involvement of civil society.

It would be of critical importance to emphasise the implementation of CSR and prioritise these parts of the CSR agenda, as they will bring the most immediate and demonstrable benefits to the greatest number of citizens.

The IARCSC should remain the leading agency for CSR, but it needs to be strengthened and supported by the entire government.

1. Introduction

In 2015, Afghanistan entered the so-called decade of transformation (2015-24). The transformation decade seeks to consolidate and build on the outcomes of the transition period (2011-14) to ensure Afghanistan's future as a functional, stable, and durable state.¹

One major objective is to build an Afghan state that respects, protects, and guarantees human rights, provides security, and is recognised by its citizens as their legitimate representative and provider of services that meets their basic needs.

Afghanistan continues to be a fragile state with weak and frail public institutions. The civil service is considered as a core engine of the government, responsible for direct service delivery to citizens through either civil service ministries responsible for direct service delivery or the private sector under the regulation and supervision of the civil service sector or other state authorities. The creation of civil service reform (CSR) requires a specific understanding of the Afghan context, which is characterised by difficult geography, social heterogeneity, ethnic divisions, religious supremacy, a young demographic profile, patriarchy, authority-driven leadership, and, in particular, conflict and insecurity.

Good governance requires an efficient public service, a reliable judicial system, and an administration that is accountable to its public. According to the World Bank, "Good governance is synonymous with sound development management." It is central to creating an environment that fosters equitable development. Governments play a key role in the provision of public goods. They establish the rules that make markets work efficiently and they correct for market failure. To fulfil this role, governments need revenues as well as agents to collect these revenues and produce public goods. This, in turn, requires systems of accountability, adequate and reliable information, and efficiency in resource management and the delivery of public services.

According to the general consensus, good governance is the capacity of a government to formulate policies, manage the fiscal and administrative affairs of the state, and deliver goods and services to citizens. The relationship between the civil service sector and good governance is inevitably crucial, as the civil service sector plays a key role in policy formulation, the management of the fiscal and administrative affairs of the government, and the delivery of services to the public either directly or indirectly through the private sector.

The governance reform agenda of the Afghan National Unity Government (NUG), including the reform of the civil service sector, has to be consolidated and its legitimacy anchored via active citizen participation, the enforcement of the rule of law, merit-based appointments, and continued improvement in its administration. In this respect, the NUG is committed to "rigorously simplify service delivery arrangements across the civil service."³

The German Development Cooperation has supported governance in Afghanistan since 2003 via various instruments and programmes, and now it wishes to consolidate its governance efforts. In the context of the decade of transformation, the Country Strategy of the Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), entitled "New Development Strategy for the Cooperation with Afghanistan in the Period 2014-17," was approved. It defines good governance as one of five focal points. The focus of the German engagement is thus the promotion of principles of good governance specifically in the three sub-areas of the rule of law, political participation, and public administration.

¹ Government of Afghanistan, "Towards Self-Reliance: Strategic Vision for the Transformation Decade" (Kabul: Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012).

² World Bank, "Governance and Development" (Washington, DC: World Bank, 1992), 1.

³ Government of Afghanistan, "Government of National Unity Deal" (Kabul: Administrative Office of the President, 2014).

The programmes in the governance sector are expected to support an overarching discussion and work on governance-related topics beyond individual programmes. A better understanding of the governance context in Afghanistan and greater systematic work on governance issues in both governance and sector programmes enhances the effectiveness of the Afghan-German Development Cooperation.

The two-year Govern4Afg project was launched by German and Afghan partners to establish a platform for policy dialogue on governance topics in Afghanistan. Researchers and policymakers from both countries will provide evidence-based inputs to foster dialogue that aims to strengthen development cooperation in the governance sector. Govern4Afg, as an overarching platform and think-and-do tank, supports the governance portfolio in Afghanistan in the implementation of the BMZ Country Strategy. As a result, our understanding of the governance context in Afghanistan is enhanced, and the main actors in the field of governance are supported in a range of in-depth and systematically developed governance-related topics. By fostering dialogue between Afghan and German "drivers of change," Govern4Afg contributes to overarching policy development and implementation aligned with the Afghan context and needs

The project more specifically seeks to: (1) contribute to an enhanced understanding of the governance context in Afghanistan and a more in-depth and systematic development of governance-related topics; (2) develop a network of experts and professional expertise on governance and Afghanistan and provide support and advice to Afghan and German decision-makers and German programmes; (3) analyse and monitor governance trends and related topics by documenting the lessons learnt and participating in the scientific debate; (4) advise governance and related-sector programmes on measures to strengthen synergies and interfaces; and (5) ensure the visibility of the impact of the governance sector and synergy projects on other focal areas.

In this context, the Afghan-German expert teams (researchers and governance practitioners) have prepared issue paper "that promote dialogue between Afghan and German policy-makers." Each issue paper focuses on governance-related topics prioritised by Afghan and German partners.

This paper is based on desk research and interviews. In November and December 2015, key informant interviews (KIIs) were conducted in Kabul with actors from the government, United Nations agencies, non-governmental organisations (NGOs), and the international community in order to gain their respective views and perspectives. The interviewees were identified and selected carefully based on their experience with and relevance to civil service issues in Afghanistan. In December 2015, a CSR open dialogue event was held in Kabul with the presentation and discussion of the initial findings of this study. The dialogue event was attended by government stakeholders as well as representatives of civil society and the international community.

The main aim of this research is to provide a comprehensive overview of the status quo of the civil service sector in Afghanistan in terms of its legal background and modes of action. Furthermore, it highlights the obstacles and challenges hampering the implementation of reform initiatives. In the conclusion, recommendations are proposed on how to overcome the hesitant reform process and accelerate the implementation of CSR programmes, some of which have long existed.

2. Governance in Afghanistan

2.1 Background

During the last decades, the Afghan state has dealt with several conflict situations and foreign invasions. Particularly significant for this CSR study is the period spanning from the Soviet invasion in 1978 to the ousting of the Taliban in 2001. In April 1978, a coup in Afghanistan brought a communist government to power. Out of fear of losing the grip on this communist government, the Soviet Union invaded Afghanistan in 1979. The 1980s led to the formation of the Mujahideen and increased conflict in the country. The Soviets withdrew from the country in February 1989, and power was handed over to Dr Najibullah. In April 1992, he was ousted from power and killed, which marked the transition of conflict in Afghanistan.⁴

When the Mujahideen came to power, an internal war began among its different factions and parties until the emergence of the Taliban. This shift in power led to a further exodus of Afghan people. Kabul's educated elites, civil servants, medical professionals, and teachers left the country. Thousands of civilians who remained within the region were internally displaced.

After the ouster of the Taliban and establishment of Interim Administration in 2001, the Afghan authorities were left with the responsibility of restoring security, commencing state building, and initiating the process of development and rehabilitation. On 22 December 2001, the Bonn Agreement was signed, and the Interim Administration was set up with Hamid Karzai as Chairman. In June 2002, an Emergency Loya Jirga formed a transitional authority with Karzai as President. As per the terms of the Bonn Agreement, the 1964 Constitution was reinstated, and a time frame was fixed for national elections to be held in mid-2004. During this period, a new Constitution was debated until January 2004. The new Constitution provided for an elected President and a National Assembly comprising two houses—the Wolesi Jirga (House of the People) and Meshrano Jirga (House of Elders). Members of the Wolesi Jirga were to be elected through free and fair elections, and members of the Meshrano Jirga were to be appointed as per the provisions of the Constitution.

During Dr Najibullah's government and the Mujahideen and Taliban regimes, there was no single agency responsible for public administration reform in Afghanistan. Human resource management functions were spread among different ministries such as the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs and the Ministry of Finance (MoF) along with the Office of Administrative Affairs. Due to the lack of harmonisation between the different government entities, there was no space for public administrative reform or the creation of a dynamic civil service.

The principle critique of the civil service system prior to the establishment of the new government in 2001 was that it lacked effectiveness, had a traditional management approach based on the autocratic regimes prevalent at the time, and was under the control of the ruling elites. To keep the Afghanistan civil service and public administration in line with the changing times and the government's development and reform agenda, it was necessary to establish an entity for this particular reform. The Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission (IARCSC) was thus created.

2.2 Public administration system

After the signing of the Bonn Agreement in December 2001, the Interim Administration was set up, and in June 2002, a transitional government was formed through an emergency Loya Jirga. The 1964 Constitution was reinstated to regulate the functions of the Afghan state based on the terms of the Bonn Agreement. Early in January 2004, the new Constitution was formed to provide for an elected President as head of state along with three branches of power: the legislative, judiciary, and executive branches.

⁴ Mark Duffield, "Review of the Strategic Framework for Afghanistan" (Kabul: Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit, 2001).

Legislative power

As provided by the Constitution,⁵ the legislative power consists of the two Houses of the Parliament, the lower Wolesi Jirga (House of the People) and the upper Meshrano Jirga (House of Elders). Members of the Wolesi Jirga are directly elected for a five-year term by provincial constituencies. There are currently 249 seats in the Wolesi Jirga; the Constitution stipulates a maximum of 250 seats. Seats are distributed among the provinces according to population size. The Meshrano Jirga has 102 members, selected by a mixture of presidential appointments (one-third) and indirect elections following the popular elections for the Wolesi Jirga and Provincial and District Councils (two-thirds). The Constitution stipulates that the members of the Meshrano Jirga are elected and appointed as follows:

- Among the members of each Provincial Council, the respective council elects one person for a period of four years;
- Among the members of each provincial District Council, the respective councils elect one person for a period of three years.

The 34 Provincial Councils have between 9 and 29 members depending on the size of the province's population. Members are elected in a single provincial constituency. According to the Constitution, District Councils should have between 5 and 15 members, elected every three years, depending on the size of the district's population. However, District Council elections have not yet been held, and there are no such intentions to do so in the near future.⁶

According to Article 90 of the Constitution, the National Assembly has the following authorities:

- Ratification, modification, or abrogation of laws and legislative decrees;
- Approval of plans for economic, social, cultural, and technological development;
- Approval of the state budget and according permission for obtaining and granting loans;
- Creation, modification, and abrogation of administrative units;
- Ratification of international treaties and agreements or abrogation of Afghanistan's membership to them.

Judicial power

The judicial power is one the three branches of State of Afghanistan. As per the 2004 Constitution, the judicial branch is an independent branch of the state of the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan and consists of the Supreme Court (*Stera Mahkama*), high courts, appeal courts, and primary courts.⁷

Supreme Court

In accordance with the Constitution, the Supreme Court has nine members, appointed for tenyear terms by the President, with the approval of the Wolesi Jirga. The President selects one of the nine members to serve as Chief Justice. The Supreme Court manages the personnel, budget, and policy decisions of the entire national, provincial, and district court system.

Appeal courts

Appeal courts are operational in all provinces, comprising the Chief of the Court, other judicial members, and heads of dewans (sections). Courts of Appeal in more populous provinces have five dewans: general criminal (which also deals with traffic violations), public security, civil and family, public rights, and commercial. Less populous provinces have four dewans: city primary court, general criminal, civil, and public security. Only the court of appeal in Kabul has a juvenile court specially created to hear cases involving juveniles, although many provinces have judges

⁵ Government of Afghanistan, "Constitution of Afghanistan" (Kabul: Ministry of Justice, 2004), Art. 82, Chap. 5.

⁶ KII, senior official, Independent Directorate of Local Governance (IDLG).

⁷ Article 116 of the Constitution states that "The judicial branch is an independent branch of the state of the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan. The judicial branch consists of the Supreme Court (Stera Mahkama), High Courts, Appeal Courts, and Primary Courts, the structure and authorities of which are determined by law."

experienced or trained to deal with juvenile cases. The courts of appeal oversee the rulings and decisions of the primary courts in their respective provinces and have the authority to correct, overturn, amend, confirm, or repeal these rulings and decisions. They are also responsible for deciding on conflicts of judicial jurisdiction.

Primary courts

At the district level, the city primary court, which is the primary court in the provincial capital, consists of five dewans: general criminal, civil, public rights, public security, and traffic. Primary courts in all districts outside of the provincial capital have three dewans: general criminal, public security, and civil and public rights. Many districts do not currently have functional primary courts, mainly due to security concerns. In many cases, judges hold primary court sessions in the provincial capital.

Criminal cases are initiated when the Prosecutor's Office files them with the primary court; civil rights cases are filed with an office in the Ministry of Justice (MoJ). Thereafter, a series of judicial sessions may be held until a decision is reached by the primary court. Almost as a matter of customary practice, most cases decided by the primary courts are appealed in a court of appeal. When appeals reach the Supreme Court, judges often send the case back to the primary court for a new hearing or trial.

Executive power

Based on the Constitution, which proclaims a central state of administration, the sole authority for the entire state lies with the President. However, after the deadlock election of 2014 and the signing of a political deal with the two frontrunners in the presidential election, a new position of Chief Executive Officer (CEO) emerged as the head of the executive branch of Afghan state. According to this political agreement that resulted in the current NUG, the President has a policymaking role and pursues the international relations of the Afghan state, while the CEO has an executive and management role, particularly with the ministries and independent agencies in the civil service sector. However, "clear lines of authority and responsibility have not yet been clarified enough for both the President and CEO in National Unity Government."

The executive power of the Afghan state comprises two levels of administration: central government and subnational government. In the NUG, the executive branch at the central level includes the President, two Vice Presidents, the CEO, two Deputy CEOs, 26 ministries, and 30 independent agencies. Independent agencies are government entities that report directly to the President and are not responsible to a ministry. The President is the head of state, the chair of the Cabinet, and the commander-in-chief of the armed forces.

The President nominates all of the ministers in addition to the Head of the National Security Directorate, Head of the Da Afghanistan Bank, Attorney General, Head of the Red Crescent Society, members of Supreme Court, and members of Constitution Oversight Commission to the National Parliament (Wolesi Jerga). The nominees are then subject to a parliamentary vote for acceptance or rejection.

The President is directly elected for a five-year period and can serve a maximum of two terms.

The President's Office consists of his Office, which provides administrative, logistical, and financial support to the President, the Security Council, the Press Office, Vice Presidents, and advisors to the President.

According to the Constitution, all other executive posts, including that of the Vice Presidents, the Mayor of Kabul, governors, and heads of various commissions, are appointed by the President and do not require the approval of the National Assembly. In addition, all senior management positions at both national and subnational levels are to be approved by the President after a merit-based open-competition recruitment process.

⁸ KII, senior official, CEO's Office.

2.3 Civil service sector: Structure and functions

Historically, many events have impaired the development of a functional civil service sector in Afghanistan. The different wars and conflicts have broken the continuity of the civil service sector and have made it weak and politicised rather than professional and technical.

After the end of the Soviet invasion, there was a gap in the system of a functional civil service from 1992 to 2001. Due to these disturbances, the civil service sector as a whole and its civil servants were neither professionalised nor depoliticised; indeed, the civil service was paralyzed. Given the existing situation with its gaps in the civil service sector and service delivery to citizens, it is necessary to make it more robust so that it is able to contribute to the transformation of Afghanistan toward development and self-resilience.

The civil service sector in Afghanistan comprises 26 ministries and 30 independent agencies. It is the key sector of government service delivery to improve the quality and reliability of services to citizens and businesses. Basic services include education, electricity, water, health, poverty reduction, combatting corruption, improving living standards, and enhancing private sector development; all of these services are crucial for the improvement and development of the country.

Ministries

The civil service sector includes all ministries and independent agencies, commissions and authorities at national level, and provincial and district offices at subnational level. In addition, the judiciary and non-legislative offices and entities in the judiciary and legislative branches of the state, namely the General Management Office in the judiciary branch and the administrative secretariats in both Houses of Parliament fall under the civil service sector and follow its legislative rules and regulations. As one key informant from the World Bank noted, "The civil service sector has seen fundamental changes since 2001. The legislative framework was not clear in terms of reforms, but now a clear legal framework is available. The roles and functions of the civil service are well defined, and a working system has been established."

There are currently 26 ministries¹⁰ in the executive branch of the Afghan state. Apart from the Ministry of Defence, Ministry of Interior, and National Directorate of Security, the remaining 23 ministries follow the rules and regulations of the civil service and are considered as part of the civil service sector.

Independent agencies

There are currently 30 independent agencies in the civil service sector. These agencies are government budgetary entities that report directly to the President and are not responsible to a particular ministry.

Overlaps and duplications in the civil service sector

In the context of the functions and structure of the ministries and agencies, the civil service sector lacks a specific legal framework. The Organic Law, however, aims to articulate the roles, functions, and basic structure of the entire state. As the functions and roles of the three branches of the Afghan state are already defined in the Constitution, there is a critical need for the enforcement of the Organic Law to determine the roles and functions of the civil service ministries, including those relating to the security sector. The multiplicity of functions in the civil service sector has not yet been removed, particularly with regard to reforms and anticorruption measures.¹¹

⁹ KII, advisor, World Bank.

¹⁰ See Appendix 1 for the list of civil service ministries and their corresponding functions.

¹¹ KII, senior official, Ministry of Public Health (MoPH).

The structure of the civil service sector is not responsive to its mandate and functions. As one key informant from the World Bank observed:

The organisational structure was inherited through the country's history of conflict. For instance, there is a unit to provide telephone services in the Ministry of Communication and Information Technology, which still exists within the structure of the ministry. However, the Ministry of Communication and Information Technology no longer performs this function. It now should be a regulatory ministry, but no change has occurred in the structure of the ministry. There are even symbolic ministries or ministries without a clear mandate such as the Ministry of Women Affairs, Ministry of Economy, Ministry of Tribal Affairs, and Ministry of Counter Narcotics. There are obvious overlaps and duplications between the Ministry of Finance and Ministry of Economy in terms of economic policy and planning.¹²

There are several ministries and agencies that share one function; for instance, the High Office of Oversight on Anti-Corruption, Audit and Control Authority, President's Office, Internal Audit Departments of the individual ministries and agencies, and the Attorney General's Office all deal with anti-corruption efforts in the civil service sector.

The IARCSC has already identified major areas of overlap and duplication in the ministries and independent agencies. However, in the view of one senior official from the Ministry of Public Health (MoPH), political support for the implementation of reforms in the civil service sector is only rhetoric without action.¹³

Human resource management in the civil service sector

The Afghan civil service sector is a position-based system where the civil service grade is assigned in the tashkeel (organisational structure) to a particular position. As per the Civil Service Law, "A civil servant is a person appointed by the Government to perform its executive and administrative duties." Thus, all staff are employees of the government, and as a result, the government has discretion over issues such as salary levels, staffing numbers and allocation, recruitment, and terminations. However, basic standards and procedures are often guided by the established and overarching framework of civil service laws created by the government.

Positions in the organisational structure of the civil service organised according to eight grades, from grade 8 as the lowest to grade 1 as the highest. Civil servants are appointed in civil service positions through open competitions. The open competition recruitment process for grades 8 to 3 are managed and processed by the relevant ministry or agency under the supervision of IARCSC's Appointment Board. Appointments in senior management grades (grades 1 and 2 corresponding to director general and director positions, respectively) are now managed and processed by the individual ministry or agency at national level with the Minister or Agency Chairperson as the head of the recruitment committee with the process being supervised by IARCSC's Appointment Board. This new recruitment process for senior management grades occurred by presidential decree. Since the establishment of the IARCSC and its Appointments Board and the enforcement of merit-based open competition over the past few years, the senior management recruitment process has been led and managed by the Appointment Board.

The shift in the recruitment process, although in contradiction to civil service laws, was decided, because the Appointment Board of IARCSC had not been transparent in the recruitment process of civil servants in the civil service ministries and agencies. Nevertheless, this change has not ensured transparency in the recruitment process, because ministers, as the head of the recruitment committees of the line ministries, are under the pressure and influence of members of parliament and other political groups, and so they may not be able to ensure transparency and merit-based open competition. In addition, the new recruitment process has not only undermined the achievements of the government in terms of reforms and the establishment of merit-based open competition in

¹² KII, advisor, World Bank.

¹³ KII, senior official, MoPH.

¹⁴ Government of Afghanistan, "Civil Service Law" (Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2003), Art. 4, Para. 1.

¹⁵ KII, advisor, World Bank.

the civil service sector, but it has also merged the political and technical layers of the civil service ministries instead of establishing a clear line of technical and political functions in the civil service sector. As one senior official at the IDLG noted, "The political and technical layers are not distinct in the structure and function of civil service ministries and agencies at both national and subnational levels," and as a result, this has exacerbated the technicality and professionalism in the civil service sector. A senior official at the IARCSC explained the situation as follows:

For any reform, there needs to be a legal and policy framework and system to improve service delivery and sound human resource management. The current number of civil servants in Afghanistan's civil service ministries is around 417,000. Around 220,000 are civil servants responsible for direct service delivery. There needs to be an in-depth assessment if this number is sufficient for service delivery. However, looking at the distribution of civil servants, the national civil service is overloaded compared with the provincial and district levels. The current balance is 20% in the centre and 80% of civil servants in provinces.¹⁷

There have been several project implementation units that used major development projects in civil service ministries and hired personnel on a contractual basis, and many such parallel structures continue to exist in the civil service sector. These personnel were paid significantly higher salaries than regular civil servants. They would run projects in the government and then leave after the project completion. This caused a break in the link, as the civil servants would mostly be left unaware as to how to continue with the management of a project. Even during the implementation of donorfunded projects over the last 15 years, projects were not integrated into the permanent structure of the civil service, and knowledge was not transferred to civil servants. This led to the establishment of a parallel structure within ministries without any clear and systematic coordination with permanent tashkeel units. Therefore, the training and development of civil servants are vital, so that they can work on a project in its entirety and also be part of the follow-up process. A key informant from the Ministry of Agriculture, Irrigation, and Livestock summarised the problem as follows:

Currently, the major problem for civil service ministries, particularly those with a high number of externally funded development projects, is the integration of these projects within the ministry's structure. This is due to the lack of a clear regulatory and legal framework.¹⁸

There should therefore be clear policy directions for the simultaneous integration and coordination of projects. These need sufficient resources in the operating budget of the ministry.

The human resource management system in the ministries is also a challenge. There are many interventions, particularly in the recruitment process of civil servants as well as project and contracted staff. Major challenges in the civil service ministries and agencies are transparency in the recruitment process, staff retention, training and development, and salary levels.¹⁹

Inequality in the salaries of civil servants and project staff is also a great challenge, and there needs to be a proper harmonisation of salaries in the civil service sector. Ministries should focus on inputs such as financial, human, and physical resources rather than outcomes and results.

As the civil service system is managed by civil servants, the rules relating to the employment of civil servants are crucial to the development of the governing structure of Afghanistan. In this context, the Civil Servants Law regulates all of the rules relating to recruitment, promotions, transfers, retention, and termination of the services of civil servants. One key informant from the civil service sector summarised the situation as follows:

One major challenge in the implementation of good governance, service delivery, and reforms is the lack of a proper system of human resource management, particularly in the selection of the wrong people in the leadership of organisations, because there has to be good managers and leaders in organisations for implementation, evaluation, and coordination of the government's development and reform programmes.²⁰

¹⁶ KII, senior official, IDLG.

¹⁷ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

¹⁸ KII, senior advisor, Ministry of Agriculture, Irrigation, and Livestock.

¹⁹ KII, senior official, MoPH.

²⁰ KII, civil society member, research institute.

Human resource management units have been established in civil service ministries and agencies to carry out all functions relating to civil servant management such as capacity-building, performance appraisals, records, promotions, complaints handling, and so forth. The recruitment process is not transparent, and ministries are not responsive in managing their own civil servants, because the current Civil Servants Law limits the management of civil servants.²¹ All human resource management rules for civil service employees are regulated through the relevant civil service regulations and procedures.

Not only does human resource management come under the central administration, but the power and authorities of most key functions also lie with it. The decentralisation and delegation of authority to subnational levels of administration do not sufficiently exist.²²

CSR aims to ensure that recruitments and promotions are based on merit. This is expected to be implemented through the introduction of a merit-based open-competition system of recruitment, which will assist in solving the problem of nepotism and patronage. It is also vital to:

...distinguish the political layer from the technical layer in the civil service and create a sense of security for civil servants. Civil service should be kept away from the political agenda and from any interference, and civil servants should be managed by the Civil Servants Law rather than by political will, and so avoid the political administration as opposed to the technical administration.²³

²¹ KII, senior official, MoPH.

²² KII, senior official, IDLG.

²³ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

3. Civil Service Reform in Afghanistan

3.1 Legal framework for civil service reform

The legal basis for administrative reform stems from Article 50 of the Constitution. Indeed, the need to reform the administrative system was required after the overthrowing of the Taliban in 2001 and the introduction of a presidential form of government. The presidential decree that established the IARCSC further provided the legal basis through which reforms could be carried out within the Afghan government system, with a special focus on civil service management and reforms. A senior official from the World Bank commented on this as follows:

Public administration reforms in the new government of Afghanistan started from scratch and have had both successes and failures. There have been constraints in legal, structural, and capacity areas. The civil service has come a long way from 2001 until now. The legislative framework was not clear in terms of reforms, but a clear legal framework is now available. The roles and functions of the civil service are clear, and a working system has been established.²⁴

While the IARCSC was established to carry out several functions of civil service management and administrative reform, it has also played the role of coordinating between different ministries and ensuring that the promulgated legislation was applied in practice. With the evolution of the administrative system and the implementation of the Civil Service Law after the enforcement of the 2004 Constitution, there has been a further debate on enhancing the quality of civil service rules to further strengthen the public administrative system and bring it on a par with the international principles of public administration.

Constitution

The form of the centralised administrative system in the Afghan state stems from the following three articles of the Constitution:

Article 36: "The administration of the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan, based on the units of the central government and local offices, shall be regulated according to the law. The central administration shall be divided into several administrative units, each headed by a Minister. The local administrative unit shall be a province. The number, area, divisions and related provincial organisations as well as number of offices shall be regulated on the basis of population, social and economic conditions, as well as geographical location."

Article 37: "The government, in preserving the principles of centralism, shall transfer necessary powers, in accordance with the law, to local administrations in order to accelerate and improve economic, social as well as cultural matters, and foster peoples' participation in developing national life."

Article 50: "The state shall adopt necessary measures to create a healthy administration and realize reforms in the administrative system of the country. The administration shall perform its duties with complete neutrality and in compliance with the provisions of the laws. The citizens of Afghanistan shall have the right of access to information from state departments in accordance with the provisions of the law. This right shall have no limit except when harming rights of others as well as public security. The citizens of Afghanistan shall be recruited by the state on the basis of ability, without any discrimination, according to the provisions of the law."

²⁴ KII, senior official, World Bank.

Organic Law

To link all functions of the government, there is a need for a law that forms the core and centre of governance in Afghanistan and provides the mandate to the government to define their role and powers. This would reinforce the policymaking function of the President's Office along with the adjoining bodies and ministries, including the CEO's Office. The government has been in the process of drafting a law to this effect over the past few years. In its current form, the draft law is referred to as the Organic Law, and it seeks to clarify the mandate and basic organisational structure of the different government offices.

In 1964, there was already an early version of the Organic Law, although it is no longer applicable. The current draft considers the structure and functions of the state organisation and extends the area of activity to all three branches of the government. The duties and responsibilities of the 26 ministries have been included in the draft (see the list and functions of the individual ministries in Appendix 1).

The draft Organic Law in its current form has six chapters with 59 articles that state the different provisions and governance structures. The chapters are divided into topics of general provisions, the functions and structures of the different ministries, the national assembly, the judiciary, subnational governance, and final provisions.

The basis of this law is the Constitution, and it is intended to apply to all three branches of government, that is, the executive, legislative, and judiciary. However, the law is currently under debate by the Afghan Parliament, as the IARCSC has recommended that the Organic Law should only apply to the executive branch of government, and it has developed a draft in this regard.²⁵

To make this law the main law of governance functioning, the President has been recommended as the head of all three branches of government. Since Afghanistan is a unitary state with a centralised government, these features are part of the country's core governance. The Afghan governmental system works through a unitary structure, and in political and fiscal terms, it is one of the most highly centralised states in the world. Therefore, to assist in this process of administration, the Organic Law provides for the division of the different ministries that form part of the government.

Subnational governance is covered by Chapter 5 of the Organic Law. For the subnational regions, the governor is the head of the administrative unit of the province. Article 52 lists the 34 different provinces of Afghanistan, while these provinces are further subdivided into districts with specific grades. Each province is provided for with a Provincial Council whose members are elected through free and fair elections. District Councils have additionally been created to organise and ensure people's active participation in subnational governance. The division of power at the subnational level is essential, as in the current civil service system there is no percolation of duties and responsibilities to the lower levels of management. In most instances, the effect is only seen at the top managerial levels.

The Organic Law thus seeks to play a vital role in the organisational and administrative structure of the government of Afghanistan. However, the law is still under debate, and there are several factions that diverge in their perceptions of the purpose of the law. Regarding the circumstances of the government and its transition into a new possible form of cadre management system in the civil service sector, it is considering a law that encompasses the duties of all of the line ministries and specifically details their roles, duties, and functions. Such a law would seek to harmonise the varied administrative functions of the government and centralise all of the activities of the different branches of governance. Thus, the main purpose of this law is to define the structures of government and the relations between the different line ministries. This is pertinent in light of the current transitory phase and unstable history of the Afghan state.

²⁵ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

Draft Administrative Procedure Law²⁶

The primary law for accountability that is currently being drafted by the IARCSC is the Administrative Procedure Law. The Administrative Procedure Law has seven chapters that deal with different administrative aspects relevant to the civil service structure of Afghanistan. The main sections of the law are as follows:

- Administrative actions related to administrative decisions and contracts (two chapters);
- Principles of good administration associated with fairness, natural justice, and equality;
- Complaints mechanism outlining the internal control system, recourse, and remedies for the grievances of the general public toward the public administration;
- Obligation to keep a record of all administrative actions;
- Access to Information Law providing the right to obtain a response in a timely manner.

An important provision that needs to be considered but has not yet been added is the establishment of administrative tribunals. Most government personnel believe that there is a need to establish an administrative tribunal either through the Supreme Court or by a parliamentary act. The establishment of such a tribunal would solve problems relating to administrative reform and internal administrative issues within the government structure. The tribunal would act as an impartial body to adjudge on these issues.

Civil Service Law

The Afghanistan Civil Service Law was ratified by Article 50, which formed the legal basis for the creation of the IARCSC. The passage of Decree No. 25 and the associated regulations in the form of Decree No. 26 on 10 June 2003 (1382/3/20) amended and extended the responsibilities of the Civil Service Commission to that of the IARCSC.

The Civil Service Law comprises eight chapters and 30 articles. Articles 3, 5, and 6 stipulate the functions and structure of the IARCSC. Articles 22, 23, and 24 relate to reforms in the civil service and civil servants' management. In particular, Article 22 deals with civil service positions, including grading, classification, level of responsibilities, and authorities; Article 23 refers to the appointment of civil servants on the basis of merit and professional skills without discrimination; and Article 24 discusses personnel management and its regulation.

Civil Servants Law

The Civil Servants Law 2008 comprises six chapters and 35 articles. Articles 6-11, 16, 23, 28, 32, and 34 relate to reforms. Articles 6 to 11 set out the employment requirements and appointment arrangements; Article 16 outlines the performance appraisal process; Article 23 deals with promotions; Article 28 stipulates the appeals provisions; Article 32 sets out the requirements for consultation with the IARCSC; and Article 34 confirms that the IARCSC must approve the job requirements for each grade.

The purpose of any civil service legislation is to regulate the special relations between the state and civil servants. As civil servants form a link between the government and the citizens through service delivery, a robust civil service is essential in order for the state to create an ongoing governance structure and allow for social, political, and economic development of the country and its people.

In the context of public administration reform (PAR), the law regulating the civil service is central. The Civil Servants Law is thus important, as it describes the rules for civil servants with respect to recruitment, promotions, transfers, retention, and termination. The Civil Servants Law is the primary document in this regard.

²⁶ Government of Afghanistan, "Administrative Procedure Law Draft Document" (Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2015).

New draft of Civil Servants Law²⁷

Discussions for reforming the Civil Servants Law have been ongoing in Afghanistan for the past two years. The process for amending this law and changing the extant system was initiated by the IARCSC, which first prepared its own draft of the law before circulating it among the various ministries. Suggestions and recommendations from these ministries were then incorporated, and a new updated text was prepared. This text was then submitted to the MoJ, which is in charge of submitting it to the Parliament.

Therefore, by introducing a new law now, there would be yet another change in the system. Yet as the existing system along with its merits and demerits had not been completely analysed, there was no primary reason to change the system. Despite the concerns about the draft law, the majority of the line ministries agreed on the need to move toward a cadre-based system, ²⁸ and therefore the decision was taken to amend the law accordingly.

An interviewed senior official at the IARCSC argued in favour of the new law: "A new Civil Servants Law needs to be established and enforced for more professional structures in civil service sector as well as for the establishment of a sound cadre management system." However, a constructive recommendation was to amend the existing law instead of creating a new law. It was felt across the government that the old system functioned well and that it could be developed instead of overhauling the entire system for a new form of governance.

Over the course of developing new systems of governance and different reform programmes in Afghanistan, there has been an excessive focus on outcomes and designing reform programmes rather than developing an efficient and sustainable agenda for a functional and appropriate civil service sector. Therefore, several quick-fix methods for short-term reform such as the priority restructuring and reform (PRR), PAR, and pay and grading (P&G) reform were implemented to resolve the issues. Now, however, there is a need to develop long-term solutions to sustain the civil service system.

In the current system, there is a dependency on international donors, as their officers are always available to fill in the gaps. This situation needs to change, and the onus of running the government should instead be placed on skilled and trained Afghans.

The greatest change is the shift from a position- to cadre-based appointment system. This has created an improvised legal framework for recruitments, promotions, transfers, and termination. Further, salary scales have been modified to adjust to market rates, and a host of incentives to attract qualified personnel have been added to the law. Pension regulations have been updated, and a new system of entry examinations has been added for recruitments.

During the current transitory period, both laws will coexist simultaneously until all civil servants are integrated into the new system, after which time the Civil Servants Law 2008 will be phased out.

Position- versus cadre-based system

The change from a position- to cadre-based system is drastic, and the two years of discussions and debates on the proposed change concluded that it would be beneficial to the civil service of Afghanistan. All of the civil service ministries involved explained the advantages and disadvantages of the system, and the majority agreed to this transition. It was accepted that the cadre system should be implemented at some point in the civil service, although its success would depend on how the government implements it.

It is important to invest more in the civil service, and the adoption of a merit-based cadre system is a step in this direction. However, the subnational level of governance is very weak, and even with this change to the system of governance, the issue of the percolation of resources and responsibilities still needs to be addressed at the subnational level.

²⁷ Government of Afghanistan, "Civil Servants Law Draft Document" (Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2015).

²⁸ See the following subsection for an explanation of the cadre-based system.

²⁹ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

The cadre system is completely new to Afghanistan. Before 2001, there was a permanent civil service, although it was not based on any specific system. All civil servants were grouped together under one structure. The cadre system attempts to disassociate civil servants from ministers. It is the only way to grow, maintain, and specialise the civil service. Specific provisions in the draft law provide for the transition from a position- to cadre-based system. The key to implementing this transition process successfully is to adopt a gradual approach and apply the transition on a needs basis and not simultaneously to the entire civil service. It is important to allow the core of the civil services to grow instead of creating a jungle of recruited civil servants without personalised responsibility. To prevent an explosion in civil service cadres, the transition will take place on a needs basis and only for essential requirements. Further, it will promote a specialisation in services and create skilled posts. This gradual approach allows for the services to develop without any time limitation, as there is no rush to convert all appointments to the cadre-based system. The Civil Servants Law 2008 will still remain active until all civil servants have been absorbed into the new law. Therefore, the move to a new civil service system does not mean that the entire system is being changed. Instead, both systems will function simultaneously for a few years until the transition is complete. In the current transitory phase, it is not known how many cadres will be required and whether all existing positions can fit under the cadre structure.

In the draft law, all public institutions have been divided into sectors such as health, mining, public finance, foreign affairs, and so forth, and each sector has its own cadre system.

A senior official at the IARCSC noted that "In the legal context, there are three major laws to be approved and enforced to allow future reforms in the civil service ministries." Firstly, the Organic Law articulates the mandate and structures of all government entities, including the judiciary, legislative and executive branches of the state. This law should have been in place and enforced within 18 months after the enforcement of new Constitution. Its absence has nevertheless caused duplications and overlaps in the functions of civil service ministries and agencies. Some ministries perform certain functions fulfilled by others, as there is no differentiation in the functions and structures of an independent agency, office, commission, authority, and so forth. The Administrative Procedure Law outlines the service delivery methodology for the government and sets the norms and standards for service delivery. As core to the governance issue, this law also defines certain rules and standards for service delivery. Finally, the Civil Servants Law articulates the personnel management of civil servants. The P&G system established simple and more general reforms in the administration of civil service ministries and agencies rather than a professional cadre-based system.

3.2 Laws applicable to the civil service sector

The process of issuing various laws and decrees (furmaan) begins when the legislative decrees (furmaantaknini) are approved by the President and Cabinet. The President has the sole authority to approve all administrative decrees. Regulations are adopted by the Cabinet, and different legislative documents such as rules, directives, and guidelines are passed by the individual ministers and heads of independent agencies. The National Assembly has the authority to ratify, modify, or abrogate laws and legislative decrees. Therefore, in effect, laws passed by the National Assembly are considered as the most important and first in the legal hierarchy.

The new Constitution provides for a specific system of legislation. Strategies and policies are announced by the President as well as different individual ministers and independent agencies in civil service sector. During the second stage, these policies are assessed by the operating and development budgets. The government is then in a position to issue various laws and decrees (see Table 1 below for a summary).

The law is referred to as *kanoon*, and decrees are called *furmaan*. Regulations are referred to as *muqarrara*, and the procedures formulated as *tarzul-amal*. The drafts provided by the government are known as *musawida*, and promulgated administrative orders are *hukums*.

³⁰ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

Regulations are adopted by the Cabinet, while different legislative documents such as rules,

directives, and guidelines are passed by the

individual ministers.

Certain legislative documents (rules, directives, and guidelines) can be decreed by individual ministers. A proposed bill or signed decree should be passed by the National Assembly within one month of its submission.

Local name Type of law Function of the law Legislative document enforced by the President Qanoon Law after the legislative process and parliamentary approval **Furmaan** Decree Legislative document issued by the President Regulatory document issued by individual Tarzul-amal Procedure ministries to manage their own specific process or function Legal draft provided by Musaweda the government Hukum Administrative order Legislative decrees are first approved by the President and Cabinet. The President has the sole authority to approve administrative Furmaan-e-Taqnini Legislative decree The National Assembly then ratifies, modifies, or abrogates the laws and legislative decrees.

Table 1: Applicable regulatory documents in the civil service sector

Legislative process in the civil service sector

Regulation

Muqarrara

During the legislation process, civil service ministries and agencies all have a particular role to play. When a draft law is prepared by a ministry, it is first circulated among all relevant ministries for comments and suggestions. Once these suggestions have been incorporated, representatives from each ministry are invited to participate in discussions to finalise the legislative document. Only after the opinions of all stakeholders are recorded is the draft sent to the MoJ.

The MoJ follows a similar process of evaluation with comments and suggestions sought from all relevant ministries and stakeholders. Within the MoJ, a Taqneen Directorate (Legislation Directorate) is responsible for drafting legislation for the government. The Taqneen Directorate drafts legislations, circulates them within ministries, accepts comments and suggestions, and then forwards the draft to the Council of Ministers. However, the MoJ's Takhneek Directorate requires an overhaul to conform to the new political environment. In the current framework, "The key challenge for the reform of legal and regulatory issues is the Legislative Department in the Ministry of Justice, mainly because of the low capacity in the department. Most laws are pending and are not processed in this department." Thus, following a basic change to the structure of the legislative policy drafting and implementation process, laws will be implemented at a faster pace in keeping with the needs of the NUG. These changes are therefore essential to further strengthen the civil services.

Policies and legislation can be initiated by the President's Office, individual ministries, or the National Assembly, and become law after being passed by both houses of the National Assembly and endorsed by the President. Article 94 of the Constitution states that:

³¹ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

- Law is what both Houses of the National Assembly approve and the President endorses unless this Constitution states otherwise.
- In case the President does not agree to what the National Assembly approves, he can send the document back with justifiable reasons to the Wolesi Jirga within 15 days of its submission.
- With the passage of this period or in case the Wolesi Jirga approves a particular case again with a two-third majority vote, the bill is considered endorsed and enforced.

3.3 Major public administration reform programs in the civil service sector

The legal basis for administrative reforms stems from Article 50 of the Constitution. In addition, the need to reform the administrative system was also required after the overthrow of the Taliban in 2001 and the introduction of the presidential form of government. The presidential decree that established the IARCSC further provided the legal basis through which reforms could be carried out within the Afghan government system with a special focus on CSR.

Public administration reforms in the new Afghan government started from scratch and have had both successes and failures. There have been constraints in legal, structural, and capacity areas. The civil service has come a long way since 2001. Initially, the legislative framework was unclear in terms of reforms, but now a clear legal framework is available. The roles and functions of the civil service are well defined, and a working system has been established.³²

While the IARCSC was established to conduct several functions of civil service management and administrative reform, it also played the role of coordinating between different ministries and ensuring that the promulgated legislation was applied in practice. With the evolution of the administrative system and the implementation of Civil Service Law since the adoption of the 2004 Constitution, there has been further debate on enhancing the quality of civil service rules to further strengthen the public administrative system and bring it in line with international principles of public administration. A key informant from the IARCSC, however, highlighted the lack of leadership in terms of CSR:

Ambiguity regarding the policies and priorities of the political leadership with regard to public administration reforms is a great challenge for reforms in the civil service sector, particularly for the IARCSC. The IARCSC still does not have a clear direction from the top political leadership on CSR. No decision has yet been made by the leadership on what the priorities of the reforms in the civil service should be. There is currently no political priority, willingness, or support for civil service reform.³³

However, the lack of a clear direction and objective in CSR is also evident:

Before the implementation of reforms and the evolution toward a new civil service system, there were around 300,000 civil servants, but now and after the different stages of reform, there are more than 400,000 civil servants. This has mainly been due to the lack of clear objectives in terms of the results/outcomes of CSR. For instance, the previous 12-grade structure changed to an 8-grade structure of P&G without a clear objective for this transformation.³⁴

Nevertheless, the IARCSC has developed and implemented several reform programmes in civil service ministries and independent agencies since its establishments in 2002. At that time:

...ministries and agencies did not even have appropriate buildings. There was no legal basis for the civil service, no classical and traditional human resource management, and a lack of regulation and proper frameworks for the functions of public administration. For the last 14 years, many achievements have been made in CSR, but they are insufficient.³⁵

³² KII, senior advisor, World Bank.

³³ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

³⁴ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

³⁵ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

Priority restructuring and reform programme

The first reform programme for the organisational restructuring of the civil service sector was the PRR. Through this reform programme, initial improvements were made to the organisational structures of the civil service ministries. These reforms included a review of the allocated number of positions for the individual ministries, adjustments to the official hierarchy, and an initial division of functions among the technical and support services.

PRR was introduced as part of the first-generation PAR to facilitate reform in the ministries that play an important role in economic and social development such as the Ministry of Agriculture, Irrigation, and Livestock, MoPH, Ministry of Education, MoF, MOJ, and a few other ministries. Later, PRR was applied to all civil service ministries in the following two stages:

- Stage 1: Analyse the purpose (mission and vision) of the ministry/agency and design an organisational structure to help the ministry/agency fulfil that purpose.
- Stage 2: Develop the design identified in Stage 1 to include positions within each department and develop job descriptions and specifications for each position.

PRR was an important first step (first-generation PAR) in CSR. PRR's objectives were as follows: an efficient and service-oriented public administration, standardised services, a professional civil service (separate political and civil roles), reduced costs, and the merging of central and provincial government administrations.

The PRR programme included seven main elements:36

- 1. A new legal framework for the civil service;
- 2. Improved personnel management;
- 3. Streamlining the institutions and functions of government;
- 4. Improved financial management, accountability processes, and procedures;
- 5. Better policy management and central government mechanisms;
- 6. Administrative efficiency; and
- 7. Better physical infrastructure.

The PRR programme was a key component in the PAR strategy. It was adopted by the government in 2003 by a presidential decree and implemented through the IARCSC. Originally targeted at specific "high-priority" functions of the government, PRR was later extended to "all" government institutions, which must follow an application process and then an implementation process.

Public administration reform programme

In 2005, PRR was redesigned as PAR to shift the focus from one-off initiatives to more comprehensive reforms covering entire ministries and agencies, while also extending the reforms from the centre to the provinces and districts. The second-generation PAR³⁷ programme had five "pillars":

- 1. Administrative reform;
- 2. Salaries and incentives;
- 3. Civil service management;
- 4. Ensuring and expanding merit-based appointments;
- Capacity enhancement.

³⁶ Government of Afghanistan, "Priority Reform and Restructuring Strategic Work Plan" (Kabul: Government of Afghanistan, 2003).

³⁷ Government of Afghanistan, "Public Administration Reform Strategy" (Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2003).

The second reform programme, PAR, was developed and implemented by the IARCSC across the civil service ministries. This reform programme was intended to bring broader reforms and improvements to the civil service sector. In addition to more specific structural reform changes, which included developing departmental terms of reference, job descriptions for individual positions, and an initial alignment of the organisational structure with the strategic objectives of the line ministries, it also included reforms on human resource management, business processes, and policy and legal framework adjustments.

PAR was intended to lead to further changes, including higher salaries and a reduced numbers of civil servants. The P&G system aimed to achieve both of above objectives with the following purposes:

- Improved pay scales at all levels of the civil service;
- Abolition of the existing salary top-up schemes;
- Simplification of the current system of allowances;
- Transparent, merit-based mechanisms for promotion and career progression;
- Transparent mechanisms for performance evaluation;
- Improved accountability of civil servants;
- Improved service delivery.

Pay and grading

P&G was considered as the third-generation PAR in the civil service sector. P&G was required in the position-based system, in which there was no scope for reform. The main philosophy behind P&G was that in a closed-shop permanent civil service that was not organised through the cadre system, reform was required in order for people to be paid according to their grade and level of work and not according to seniority. The P&G framework stopped the payment scales based on seniority by dividing and classifying jobs and associating payments with the corresponding position. The existing P&G framework will now be adapted to the new cadre system of the draft Civil Servants Law. The specific details have not been included in the draft law, as it will be decided in a legislative document.

As the latest and more comprehensive reform programme, particularly for the organisational structure of government ministries and agencies, P&G established a new single grade structure with eight grades replacing the previous 12-grade structure. It defined clear differences between the main responsibilities of each grade and applied to all civil service positions across all ministries and agencies; it also established a single pay structure for each grade with five pay steps applicable to all civil servants.

The legal basis for P&G is found in the Civil Servants Law. This law sets out the following aspects for reform in the civil service ministries and agencies:

- Eight-grade organisational structure for all civil service ministries and agencies;
- Five steps for each grade;
- · Pay ranges for each grade and each step;
- Appointment criteria for each grade;
- · Performance management and evaluation.

The main purpose of the implementation of P&G reform was to help the civil service ministries have better organisational structures, remove any duplications and overlaps in functions, and improve the efficiency and effectiveness in the performance of ministries.

In the reform programme, jobs are well defined and organised for each position in the organisational structure. Job descriptions have been developed for all positions and for all departments and units of the line ministries. However, there are contradictions in the legal documents that clarify the roles and functions of individual ministries and agencies.³⁸

Overall, the challenges and problems in the implementation of P&G include the lack of a legal framework for the structuring and mandating of civil service ministries and independent agencies. This has caused a lack of clarity in the roles and functions of civil service ministries and agencies, which leads to overlapping and blurred delineations of the objectives in the strategies of most ministries and agencies, as the majority determine their own objectives. There are still duplications in the functions of ministers at the national level and governors at subnational level.³⁹

Next Generation of Public Administration Reform

In December 2014, the NUG released its reform and modernisation programme aimed at "Realizing Self-Reliance." As the London Conference paper and the national strategic plan made resoundingly clear, the need for modernising reforms is compelling.

The government is aware of the central role that the civil service sector plays in implementing the policies of the state and in maintaining law and order, which drive productivity and growth. In line with the "Self-Reliance" strategy, the Next Generation of Public Administration Reform (NGPAR) reflects a commitment to realizing self-reliance by enhancing revenues, productivity, and growth; improving the welfare and well-being of people through better governance, opportunities, and the respect for citizens' rights; and ensuring good governance through improved performance and better institutional arrangements.

The NGPAR strategy represents the fourth stage of PAR since the establishment of the Interim Government in 2001. It follows three phases: PRR, PAR, and P&G. The NGPAR strategy has three main objectives, notably to improve state capacity, national revenues, and service delivery.

The main investment priorities of the strategy are the capacity for self-sustainability, fiscal sustainability, improved economic governance, a major push to combat corruption, and greater focus on decentralisation.

The NGPAR strategy also has two main components, 40 with the priority areas of the components being as follows:

- State effectiveness (effective policy formulation and service delivery execution): strengthening the legal and regulatory framework; improved government coordination; advanced restructuring and reorganisation; business process segregation; implementation of a cadre management system; personnel training policy; decentralisation; and gender mainstreaming.
- Fiscal sustainability (value-for-money government and long-term fiscal sustainability): right-sizing; salary reform and a national technical assistant (NTA) policy; public private partnership; support to introduce VAT; business process simplification; and e-governance.

The strategy will cover the period from 2016 to 2020.

NGPAR proposes for one agency to lead the PAR process and give a clear direction in terms of both leading and implementing reforms in the civil service sector. As a senior official at the IARCSC suggested, "At this critical moment in the transformation decade, the NUG should give a clear vision and prioritise the reform agenda, support and back the leading agency for reforms, and remove any overlaps and duplications among the IARCSC, President's Office, MoF, and Special Representative of President on Good Governance and Reforms."⁴¹

³⁸ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

³⁹ KII, senior official, IDLG.

⁴⁰ Government of Afghanistan, "New Generation of Public Administration Reform Draft Document" (Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2015).

⁴¹ KII, senior official, IARCSC.

Capacity-building to facilitate results

CSR is implemented in different stages: PRR, PAR, and P&G. These three reform stages have brought about general reforms in the civil service. Now, the size and function of the civil service is controlled. For the capacity-building of the civil service, the Lateral Entry Programme injected new human capacity to civil service ministries, although there is now capacity-building for results (CBR) in the civil service ministries.

CBR is a building programme, funded through the Afghanistan Reconstruction Trust Fund under the Afghan National Budget. The CBR programme is managed by the IARCSC and MoF and supervised by a steering committee comprising the Minister of Finance and the Chairman of the IARCSC. CBR aims to assist the government in improving the capacity and performance of select line ministries in carrying out their mandates and delivering services to the Afghan people. To help reduce the reliance on externally financed staff, CBR supports the creation of a specialised and highly qualified cadre of civil servants, with the capacity to manage critical government reforms and ensure that critical services are sustained. Specific capacity- and institution-building programmes will be implemented with the systematic monitoring and reporting of results. All civil service ministries and independent agencies can participate in CBR, while the level of support is based on results.

Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission

The IARCSC was established as per Article 50 of the Constitution of Afghanistan in accordance with the Bonn Agreement and Presidential Decree No. 257 dated 23 May 2002 (1381/3/2) promulgated to this effect.

Prior to the creation of the IARCSC, there was no single agency or ministry responsible for public administration reforms in Afghanistan. Civil servants and human resource management functions were spread out among different ministries such as the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs and MoF along with the Office of Administrative Affairs. Initially, due to the lack of harmonisation between the different government organs, there was no space for public administrative reform or for the creation of a new civil service policy.

The IARCSC is headed by a Chairman who is directly responsible to the President. The primary aim of the IARCSC is to standardise the different civil service institutions and to improve the delivery of standard services. It has introduced changes in the legal, cultural, managerial, human, and technical capacity of the Afghan civil service. The IARCSC is clear in its vision to ensure the legal stability of the civil services, make it self-reliant, and provide public services through a service-delivery process. Among its most important goals is improving the capacity of the civil services and creating a recruitment process based on merit, competency, and open competition.

The IARCSC has brought about several major changes in the Afghan civil service system. Some of the significant changes include the implementation of a basic civil service management programme, the creation of a P&G system, the application of new technical and administrative technology, the introduction of merit-based recruitment, and the provision of capacity-building programmes for staff. However, a former civil servant in the MoPH highlighted the deficiencies in the reform process:

Reform implementation is not the sole responsibility of individual ministries. The Civil Service Commission should be strong and competent enough, and it should also be politically supported for the implementation of reforms. For instance, the IARCSC itself lacks a human resource management information system or a database for civil servants. There needs to be a change in managing civil servants in the civil service sector.⁴²

⁴² KII, former senior official, MoPH.

The primary responsibility of the IARCSC is divided into four functions: appointments, appeals, civil service management, and civil servants training. The main task in terms of appointments is the recruitment of civil servants, while the duty of the appeals board is to deal with grievances from civil servants. Two independent boards are appointed for this purpose, namely the Appointments Board and Appeals Board.

The role of the Civil Service Management Department includes the development of new civil service laws and the amendment of existing legislations on civil service employment. The management team is also required to review the internal structures and coordinate between the different ministries to ensure that the legislations are applied in practice. For this, "there should be a strong Civil Service Commission that plays a greater role in policy improvements and the implementation and monitoring of reforms in civil service ministries and agencies."⁴³

The IARCSC is also the focal point for administrative reform within the government, including the management of the NGPAR programme, which is part of the Effective and Efficient Governance National Priority Programme.

Weaknesses in the structure and functioning of the Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission

The primary function of the Appointments Board is to hire civil servants through the recruitment process set out in the Civil Servants Law 2008. Since its inception, of all of the organs of the IARCSC, the Appointments Board seems to be most compromised to political influence and patronage. The Appointments Board, as it is currently structured, strives to function within the system. However, when they receive direct instructions from the President's Office, they are left with no choice but to succumb to patronage and nepotism. Due to the delegation of authority to the Appointments Board, there is no real independence in its functioning. As a result, the existing merit-based recruitment system is not truly merit-based, and the methods used for recruitment are unable to identify good talent, especially because, at present, the responsibility for senior management recruitment is shifted to the individual ministries.

When the Civil Service Law was implemented, it was supposed to create a separation between the Civil Service Management Department and the Appointments Board. However, this separation is yet to occur, and as a result, the independence of the Appointments Board has been compromised. The draft law focuses on this separation and division of work, which will help overcome a major challenge in its functioning. A Member of Parliament summarised the obstacles faced by the IARCSC as follows:

The IARCSC, as a leading agency for reforms, did not have sufficient capabilities to implement reform, particularly in the appointment and recruitment of civil servants, where they considered political and ethnical favouritism rather than merits and competency. Thus, service delivery and the quality of services with such incapable civil servants and managers have been considerably reduced. Also, less political backing and attention were given to supporting the IARCSC.⁴⁴

⁴³ KII, former senior official, MoPH.

⁴⁴ KII, Member of Parliament.

4. Challenges

It is obvious that Afghanistan has made great achievements in terms of reforms, as many achievements have been accomplished in state-building and particularly in the civil service sector over the last 15 years.

As the government had inherited the post-Taliban regime, where all institutions had been annihilated or were in a very basic and primary form, institutional building and governance were started from scratch. The constraints in legal, structural, and capacity areas were superimposed by security-related issues. Decisions about the priorities, substance, and processes of CSR had to be made under intense time pressure and often on the basis of very inadequate information. The proliferation of both domestic and international actors made effective coordination very difficult to achieve, and a continuous lack of domestic financial and organisational resources led to dependencies on external planning, funding, and implementing arrangements.

However, CSR has been implemented in different stages through PRR, PAR, and P&G, which helped to establish new organisational development systems and structures. In general, government institutions and service delivery processes are now in accordance with the programmes and objectives.

Yet, despite substantial progress in many areas of national governance, particularly in CSR, the progress in CSR has still been rather slow, with considerable challenges remaining.

4.1 Civil service policy

Turning the public service into trusted institutions is a key challenge in building the legitimacy of the state in a country with little history of good government. Policymakers concerned with developing the Afghan civil service face two major challenges: the commitment to continue the constant pursuit of sustainable reforms and the need to determine substantive priorities.

Obviously, there is political willingness for reforms, but sometimes this appears to be mere rhetoric. At the same time, the NUG has several pressing issues such as the security situation and resource and budgetary problems, and many other challenges and obstacles are preventing it from pursuing reforms. It lacks an overall vision as well a clear picture for reforms in the civil service despite the substantial analysis of the situation.

A lack of clarity in the structure and functions of the government, mainly in the civil service sector, has caused issues and challenges in areas of strategic planning, service delivery, proper reporting systems and mechanisms, and coordination among civil service ministries at national and subnational levels.

Another reason for the deficit of a clear strategy in terms of CSR is the sheer number of multiple players in the country: donors, Afghan policymakers, and so forth. Everyone plays an important part, although the government, because of the war and lack of human capital, does not have the capacity to develop its own agenda. In the words of one key informant, "We listen to everyone and then we implement everyone's policies."

There have also been fewer resources for development programmes and services to the civil service ministries responsible for service delivery, mainly due to the politicisation of resource and budget allocations and the lack of coordination with donor counterparts.

Weak political and leadership commitment on reforms have led to the appointment and selection of managers and leaders of government organisations with short-minded visions, who are committed to their own personal and political interests rather than the development objectives of their organisations.

⁴⁵ KII, Member of Parliament.

Ministries and agencies are at different stages of reform readiness. Some ministries have a basic platform of competencies in place, with P&G and trained civil servants performing their duties according to the job descriptions aligned with the ministry's mandate. Others, however, lack even the basic competencies.

Arrogant behaviour, particularly among managers in both government entities and NGOs where most of donor assistance development programmes are implemented, have lessened the sense of ownership among other staff and citizens. There should be assessments to inform about the needs of all citizens.

There are also interfering bodies like the Special Representative of President on Good Governance and Reforms, the Vice Presidents, and MoF. The roles and responsibilities of all of these actors are not clearly defined. And let us not forget the existent informal, feudal relationships where patronage trumps law enforcement.

The Parliament has been very weak in monitoring the performance of ministries and agencies in the civil service sector. Indeed, favouritism is preferred over qualifications. The Afghan Constitution does not provide the criteria required for the selection and election of members of parliament in terms of monitoring government performance and regulation and developing laws for the government.

Procedures that would ensure effective inter-ministerial coordination remain weak. The President's Office does not have the capacity to plan strategically and provide clear direction to the government as a whole, and in particular, to serve as an effective manager of inter-ministerial and interagency coordination. There is an urgent need to develop structures and procedures for effective coordination both at the political level—among members of the government—and at the administrative level—across ministries and agencies—as well as between the two. The centre of government needs to be capable of driving the formulation and implementation of the government's agenda:

One main problem that we have in Afghanistan is the lack of written documents. Another challenge is that we shift responsibilities between one another. The Ministry of Finance says that it's the responsibility of Civil Service Commission, and the commission says its Ministry of Economy's problem.⁴⁶

There is no integrated governmental approach with respect to the specification of functions, roles, and structures, particularly in the civil service sector. The government lacks a clear comprehensive policy and prioritised implementation strategy in CSR that reflect the specific political, economic, social, and cultural context of Afghanistan. Unfortunately, one of the most significant factors is that important policy discussions on reform are superimposed by security related issues.

4.2 Legal framework

The legal and policy frameworks for supporting civil service and public administration reform remain inadequate and need further development. Several key laws are still outstanding. Policy analysis and development through proper laws and regulations are often bypassed in favour of rapid programme interventions that lack cohesion or relationship to a long-term reform agenda.

The government has many steps to take for CSR and the improvement of service delivery. The **Organic Law** needs to be in place to outline the clear roles and responsibilities for civil service ministries and agencies. The absence of this law has not only caused duplications, overlaps, a multiplicity of functions, and unclear roles and responsibilities in ministries, but it has also led to the inadequate definition of policymaking, service delivery, and support functions for both the civil service sector and individual ministries and agencies at central and provincial levels.

⁴⁶ Open Dialogue, Kabul, 12 December 2015.

The Organic Law would help the government to better determine its fiscal capacity as well as the volume of civil service ministries and agencies needed to perform their associated functions and mandates. This law was once sent to the Parliament for approval, but numerous factors—for example, the government's inability, other priorities, multiple laws pending approval, presidential decrees, work overload, and a general lack of interest—have contributed to the delay in reviewing and approving this law.

Another example is the Civil Servants Law, which started to be revised and amended in 2010 with the aim of transitioning from an open position-based system to cadre-based system. The law also seeks to promote professionalism and stability in the civil service by introducing a civil servants protection mechanism, preventing a conflict of interests, creating post-employment obligations, rationalising P&G, promoting talent, and de-politicising civil servants above and beyond grade ranks. The law will also introduce sector-based differentiation, allowing the unique aspects of each sector to be dealt with independently and human resource management to be improved. The law will also improve cadre management and allowance systems, while introducing general entry examinations. The IARCSC, MoJ, and MoF have been working on this law, but it is still in the draft phase.

Obstacles to the finalisation and endorsement of these laws are mainly due to a lack of political will and ministers' insistence on their roles and functions in the law. In addition, the judiciary branch is resisting the Administrative Procedure Law. The key challenge to the legal and regulatory issue for reforms is the MoJ's Legislative Department, mainly because of its low capacity. The majority of laws are still pending and are not in process in this department. Many of the regulations are stuck in the MoJ.

4.3 Structural and managerial issues

During the last decade, several bilateral and multilateral donor agencies created autonomous implementation units to carry out targeted social policy programmes and projects. While these initiatives resulted in fast service delivery, particularly in the remote areas of the country, they created multiple layers of organisations and parallel executive structures, often with staff not aligned to the country's civil service and not accountable to ministries and governmental agencies.

The current civil service system does not function well in the NUG. Transparent business processes do not exist. One major challenge to reform and institutional building has been the selection of candidates for leading government entities based mainly on nepotism and personal relationships rather than competency. These organisational leaders often lack motivation, and they work in favour of their relevant parties or groups of people to whom they are connected.

Civil service ministries tend to think and focus on their scope and authority based on their own objectives and programmes rather than the ad hoc and sustainable mandates and structures in line with the overall government development programmes. There is a lack of coordination in the government ministries, while the mandates of ministries overlap, resulting in conflicts rather than cooperation. Patronage is rife, and too many ministries are full of ghost or unqualified staff.

Government ministries and agencies lack operational and senior-level management as well as professional and functional capacities, which, combined with a lack of modern management and public policy practices, contribute to poor service delivery, low budget execution, and a range of inefficiencies.

Several bilateral and multilateral donor agencies have created autonomous implementation units to carry out programmes and projects, resulting in parallel executive structures, often with staff that are not aligned to the country's civil service and not accountable to ministries and governmental agencies. Moreover, international partners have not been set particular benchmarks for government performance.

Little attention has been given to the on-the-ground realities of Afghanistan. Indeed, the World Bank designed PRR, PAR, and P&G based on global experience rather than the Afghan reality.

The **organisational structure** is inflated with overlaps and duplications in civil service ministries and agencies. The Civil Service Management Department has identified 21 areas of duplication and overlap in the civil service. For instance, in the area of financial audits, there are five different authorities: the Supreme Audit Office, the MoF, the internal audit departments of different ministries and institutions, the High Office of Oversight and Anti-Corruption, and the Independent Joint Anti-Corruption Monitoring and Evaluation Committee. Clarifying this complex structure is not only a question of financial resources, but also an issue of effective control and transparency.

There are no appropriate guidelines or procedures for the establishment of units or departments in civil service ministries. For instance, the gender units in ministries were established under the finance and administration division, even though gender is a policy issue. The lack of a clear regulatory framework and customised structures gives rise to the fact that certain projects within a ministry do not fit into a given structure. In addition, the one-size-fits-all policy has continued in the organisational structuring in the civil service sector, particularly with subnational entities, while this should occur in a context-based approach.

4.4 Business processes

Business processes in the civil service are complex and have not yet been simplified and reformed. The regulation and standardisation of key administrative processes remain weak and unreliable, including budgeting, resource management, planning, decision-making, and implementation; vertical and horizontal cooperation and coordination, and, particularly, the procedures governing the interaction between the government administration, private sector, and citizens. These complexities in business processes have consequently affected the delivery of services.

A large number of lengthy and complicated business and administrative procedures undermine operational performance and expand the potential for corrupt practices both within the government and with the public. To illustrate this protracted process, one key informant explained that "In terms of business processes, I have been told by people in the Ministry of Finance that it takes 54 signatures and 6 months to hire a teacher in a district."

The legal framework that sets out the structure of public administration, including the Organic Law, Civil Service Law, and Civil Servants Law as the cornerstones of the legal framework, is in need of revision. Crucial elements, such as the laws that regulate the principles of executive organisation and essential administrative procedures, are not yet in place. Thus, the regulation and standardisation of key administrative processes remain weak, especially in terms of budgeting, resource management, planning, decision-making, and implementation.

Low capacity and the lack of professionalism among civil servants are further challenges to service delivery. Less than one-third of civil servants are skilled with the required capacity to perform their jobs. There is not a scarcity in the workforce, but rather too many incompetent employees in government organisations, particularly in managerial and technical positions. Only 15% of employees in government organisations are competent, while the remaining 85% are much less productive. Work efficiency does not exist in government agencies.

To date, there has been no systematic analysis of the usage of e-government and internet-based tools to improve key administrative processes, both within the public sector and the administrative authorities' exchanges (and consultations) with citizens and private enterprises.

4.5 Civil servants

Despite the large number of civil servants in Afghanistan, it is unclear whether they are well distributed throughout the structure of civil service.

The current number of civil servants in Afghanistan civil service ministries is around 417,000. Approximately 220,000 are civil servants responsible for direct service delivery. However, there needs to be an in-depth assessment to confirm whether this number is sufficient.

⁴⁷ Open Dialogue, Kabul, 12 December 2015.

Previously, the civil service was a closed system, and the admission of new employees occurred from the bottom. With the implementation of the P&G system, the new open competition with a bottom-up approach to appoint civil servants was introduced. New staff with new expertise have thus entered the civil service ministries at all levels.

This open competition paved the way for the capacity-building of the civil service sector, but due to widespread corruption, many key managerial positions were filled based on relationships and political observation. This led to both corruption and low service delivery in the civil service ministries, because the transparency of the recruitment process was undermined by political favours, personal relationships, nepotism, and corruption. In the appointment and recruitment of civil servants, political and ethnicity issues especially outweigh individual merits and competency. Deeply embedded patronage networks across government institutions mean that the meritor competence-based selection of civil servants (competitive recruitment and performance appraisal) is not the norm, which translates into a very low capacity in many core areas of government policymaking and service delivery.

One of the most ambitious initiatives in terms of CSR was the P&G reform in 2008. It attempted to create a common classification of eight grades, each with five steps, which was expected to cover the entire civil service. The main achievements of this reform are the introduction of precise job descriptions and the principles of meritocratic recruitment. However, problems exist in its design and implementation. Design problems include a lack of attention to the needs of functionally differentiated administrations and an overly encompassing, rigid, and compressed grading system that allows too little differentiation across the different sectors of the public service. The previous P&G system did not have a career-based system, and it lacked professionalism and ignored the variant systems in the different sectoral areas of the civil service.

According to the IARCSC, some 365,000 positions have been reformed under P&G, and some 305,000 positions have been refilled using the new P&G system. The partial implementation of the P&G reform is also the result of resistance in some parts of the central agencies.

The proliferation of salary scales financed by international donors has resulted in a lack of coordination in the various salary systems, serious shortcomings in terms of meritocratic recruitment and promotion, and a lack of medium- and long-term planning of personnel needs in the public sector along with the associated training requirements.

The civil service has increasingly seen qualified civil servants and specialists leave the government for better pay and working conditions with international agencies and contractors. Development agencies and their Afghan partners have partly tried to overcome the lost capacity and poor performance of the civil service by using contracted staff embedded within ministries to execute urgently needed programmes, thus creating what has been called a "second civil service," which has in turn exacerbated other tashkeel challenges in the civil service.

Partly as a result of rigidity and in response to the donor community, a proliferation of superscales has evolved. A variety of schemes allows salaries to be supplemented. CBR is the most recent of these schemes. In effect, this leads to the rise of parallel services that co-exist within the same organisation. The creation of such a "second civil service" will have a lasting impact on long-term administrative capacities, as most senior Afghan experts have been absorbed into the aid community.

There are three sorts of civil servants in Afghanistan. For instance, the MoPH employs 18,396 regular civil servants, 23,000 contracted staff, and around 400 contracted staff/advisors employed on short-term basis. The inequality of salaries also weakens the commitment of the "normal" (tashkeel) staff and demotivates them. The monthly salary of "normal" staff is 8,000 Afs (equivalent to US\$120) compared to US\$800 to 4,000 for contracted staff.

Multiple, concurrent pay scales in the public sector, the scarcity of qualified human capital, and heightened competition among donors and between donors and the government, in which individuals performing similar jobs are paid different salaries, all negatively impact

the performance of the government and public perception. Salary demands and expectations have escalated to the point where the government cannot compete. Long-standing practices of cronyism, nepotism, and hiring on the basis of ethnicity are common. A merit-based recruitment system has not yet been institutionalised in many ministries and agencies. This means that the "best and brightest" are often discounted in favour of those who are "known," thus contributing to an attitude of resignation and a lack of motivation to work hard for advancement.

The current position-based system of P&G does not respond to a professional management system in the civil service sector, and instead a cadre management system should be established. Human resource management, public financial management, and other professional cadre management systems should be in place in the civil service sector.

The human resource management system in the civil service sector in ministries also represents a challenge. Many interventions occur, particularly in the recruitment process of both civil servants and project and contracted staff in ministries. Even the Appointment Board of the IARCSC has not been clear and transparent in the recruitment process of civil servants in ministries and agencies. There is therefore an urgent need for transparency in the recruitment process, staff retention, training and development, and salary scales in order to reduce corruption.

The integration of project staff with government civil servants is a major problem in the ministries. International consultants were hired and assessments of extant systems conducted, and integration has now started. Salary harmonisation is a problem for the integration of projects and associated staff along with tashkeel staff. Integration programmes in ministries need capacity-building programmes like CBR, although CBR has very limited resources in this regard.

Little sustained attention has been paid to how to create the adequate conditions under which staff can work effectively.

The purpose of the Human Resource Management Information System is to manage information across the entire government sector to maintain an accurate picture of civil service trends, including the number of employees, their position, and length of employment. Timely, accurate, and complete information is also essential to support decision-making, policy analysis, planning, and related functions associated with the sound and modern management of the civil service.

One of the most important and critical issues in the civil service is the lack of appropriate policies and procedures for the human resource management of professional cadres. Furthermore, the implementation and consideration of the Civil Service Law is too difficult in terms of the process of recruitment and selection, job design (setting job qualifications and requirements), promotion, and staff retention.

Career development is not encouraged by the current system of civil service management. Other related factors such as performance appraisal and training are often not well coordinated, as they are not based on the realities on the ground. Human resource management practices are disconnected, thus undermining the long-term sustainability of the civil service.

Basic information on the civil service is incomplete and not always accurate, and the supporting systems do not adequately support management decision-making. A Human Resource Management Information System has been developed to provide basic data on the civil service, but it does not meet broader human resource management information needs.

Training and management development are costly and often unavailable to those who need it and when they need it. Duplicative training is delivered through a mixture of modalities and donor-funded projects, and not linked to longer-term career development and performance appraisal. The lack of a comprehensive capacity-building and training policy and strategy across the country has allowed both international and national stakeholders to become involved in the costly and inconsistent implementation of education.

Considerable progress has been made by the government in setting up the training facilities at the Afghanistan Civil Service Institute and in developing and delivering a wide range of training to civil servants. However, the demands for training at both the central and subnational levels far outstrip the capacity to conduct such training. Training delivery has not given sufficient emphasis to quality and sustainability, while too little attention has been paid to planning the medium- and longer-term needs of the public sector and the associated academic training of future administrators.

Traditional barriers, security challenges, limited education and investment in capacity development, and insufficient policy supports are the major challenges faced by gender equity/equality in the civil service.

4.6 Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission

Formally, the prime responsibility for the policies aimed at the continuous development of the civil service and public administration lies with the IARCSC. However, there are other very important actors with a broad remit, notably key international donor organisations, the IDLG, MoF, and other ministries with a large portfolio. Thus, the IARCSC has often found its mandate weakened by a proliferation of actors and agencies involved in the design, funding, and implementation of initiatives within their own environment.

As a leading agency for reform, the IARCSC does not have sufficient capability for reform implementation. Thus, service delivery and the quality of services with such incapable civil servants and managers have been considerably reduced. The Appointment Board of the IARCSC has not been clear and transparent about the recruitment process of civil servants in ministries and agencies⁴⁸.

Furthermore, the IARCSC receives little support. IARCSC management often find themselves in a reactive rather than a proactive position, as they recognise the lack of substantive and procedural integration of initiatives across different levels and sectors of the government. The overall position of the IARCSC within the country's public administration has often been challenged.

Ambiguity regarding the policies and priorities of the political leadership is a great challenge for reforms in the civil service sector, particularly with regard to the IARCSC. Indeed, the IARCSC still does not have a clear idea of what the political leadership want from CSR. No decision has been made by the leadership on what the priorities of CSR should be. For instance, CBR is coordinated by the IARCSC and MoF, while there exists a multiplicity of functions for leading reforms in the IARCSC, MoF, and Office of Special Representative of President on Reforms and Governance. There are several players and actors for specific functions in the government.

Due to the lack of high-ranking support as well as internal and external constraints and obstacles, the IARCSC performs far behind its assignment, which results in slow, weak, and only partly coordinated progress in terms of CSR.

⁴⁸ KII, senior advisor, World Bank.

5. Conclusion and Recommendations

The persistent fragile situation in Afghanistan prevents the government from undertaking reforms and change, as security undermines the reform priorities. Nevertheless, after more than a decade of successive major administrative reform programmes and a large number of individual—often uncoordinated and short-term—initiatives and projects, there is a major chance for the NUG to promote Afghanistan's development of the civil service.

The civil service sector as the visible and acting tool of the government has to contribute toward developments and improvements in the quality and reliability of services to citizens and businesses. Services such as measures to reduce poverty, combat corruption, improve living standards, and enhance private sector development are crucial for the improvement and development of the country itself. Therefore, the entire government should focus on CSR. A whole-of-government, systematic, and sustainable policy framework and programme are necessary in this respect. In general, a clear roadmap is needed, as is a determined strategy in terms of prioritising the issues to be addressed and the solutions to be implemented continuously and consistently.

The basic requirement to achieve this is a consensual and comprehensive understanding of CSR. Most important are the high motivation, unquestionable will, and commitment of the government, from the President down to the management and civil servants. This requires the diligent selection of competent and qualified people at every place and level.

Considerable reform roadmaps and plans have been developed such as the National Priority Programme 3, NGPAR, and CBR. However, less attention has been given to sustainable implementation systems and approaches. A comprehensive monitoring framework is needed to ensure the smooth and sustainable implementation of reform programmes.

Apart from a large number of challenges, there are some key issues that should be processed and implemented urgently for CSR.

5.1 Legal framework

A clear legal framework is required to establish the basic organisational principles of the state executive, including ministries and central agencies (and their subnational organisations). These organisational principles should encompass these very structures and the central executive procedures. The framework should allow flexibility in terms of the reallocation of tasks, while the principles governing the establishment, merging, and reorganisation of ministries and central agencies and the allocation of tasks between ministries and agencies need to be clear and transparent.

Three key laws should be approved and enforced to allow for future reforms in the civil service ministries.

Firstly, the Organic Law seeks to clarify the mandate and functional assignments of the vertical and horizontal structures, including state-owned enterprises. The IARCSC and MoJ have been assigned to develop a unified draft of the law to be presented to the Cabinet and Parliament. The draft is still pending at the MoJ.

Secondly, the Administrative Procedure Law articulates the methodology of service delivery for the government and sets out its norms and standards. It also defines certain rules and standards for service delivery as well as the rules for the participation of citizens in the administrative procedure. However, it appears that the judiciary branch is resisting this law.

Finally, the Civil Servants Law details the employment rules of civil servants. This law started to be revised and amended in 2010. The IARCSC and MoJ are working on the text, but it is still in the draft phase under the final review of the MoJ.

Decisions urgently need to be taken regarding the long-awaited revision of the existing laws that govern the public sector and the completion of the legal framework. There is a pressing need to establish common binding regulations that govern key administrative processes, notably with regard to planning, budgeting, and resource management

Obstacles to the finalisation and endorsement of these laws are mainly due to a lack of political will, low capacity, inability, other priorities, multiple laws pending approval, work overload, and simply a lack of interest. Often regulations become stuck in the Legislative Department of the MoJ.

Reform implementation should not be the sole responsibility of the individual ministries. The IARCSC must be strong and competent enough to pursue and push for the implementation of reforms. Additionally, Parliament should fulfil one of its main tasks in monitoring the performance of ministries and agencies.

5.2 Structural and management issues

There should be a **functional review** and radical reform that focuses on the structural reform and right-sizing of the organisational structure of the civil service sector. The structure of the civil service sector should be made responsive to its mandate and functions. There is a need to analyse the competences and responsibilities allocated to the ministries and to undertake a subsequent revision to establish a clear division of tasks to eliminate duplication and dysfunctional overlap.

The organisational structures of ministries and agencies should be reformed, and any overlaps, parallels structures, and duplications should be removed. For instance, obvious overlaps and duplications exist in economic policy and planning at the MoF and Ministry of Economy.

There is an urgent need to develop structures and procedures for effective coordination both at the political level—among members of the government—and at the administrative level—across ministries and agencies—and between the two. The main objective should be to provide recommendations for the reorganisation of structures at both the centre and subnational levels, with the aim to identify actions to right-size (decrease or increase) certain functions of government so as to enhance administrative efficiency and effectiveness. This review could also identify parallel (external aid-funded) delivery mechanisms and integrate them (where reasonable) to allow the savings to be reallocated to service delivery.

Government work processes need to be reengineered and reformed to improve government administrative execution through simplifying and accelerating the processes. Reforming government work processes to optimise administrative execution should be of high priority for the government. The major focus should be on transparency, accountability, efficiency and effectiveness, unification, streamlining, simplification, and standardisation of procedures supplemented by an interconnected document management and data archiving system.

This should first be applied to all existing laws, rules, and regulations concerning the civil service and public service delivery to assess the necessity and dispensability of procedural issues. This assessment should result in a comprehensive list with concrete proposals for amendment or elimination. For this purpose, the government could establish an independent commission composed of members of parliament, high representatives of the President's Office, the IARCSC, members of the judiciary, and delegates of civil society. The IARCSC could follow up on the commission's proposals with respect to their implementation.

Furthermore, the government could compile a list of best and worst practices in the civil service sector in order to develop guidelines for unified, sustained, streamlined, and simplified procedures.

An improvement of **e-governance** will contribute to increasing efficiency and effectiveness as well as accelerating economic growth, promoting sustainable development and empowerment, and reducing poverty. It will also give citizens electronic access to governmental services. Given the immense potential of e-governance, the government should push for its development and

implementation throughout the entire country. Procedures and processes that could be made electronic should be identified in this respect. A national civil service data centre could be established in order to develop, programme, implement, and maintain a comprehensive national e-governance system. Besides other advantages such as the standardisation, streamlining, and acceleration of procedures, this would also contribute to legal conviction and reduce the cost spent on separate systems. All entities dealing with civil service issues should successively be equipped with hardware using the unified software. Staff should be properly trained and citizens instructed to use this tool.

There is a need for the development and establishment of a modern and comprehensive system for human resource management. The objective is to move the civil service from a system that is currently constructed around patronage and loyalty to one that is based on rules and merit. Human resource management across the entire government would provide an accurate picture of the civil service, including the number of employees, their positions, and length of employment, and it would also address the longer-term career development and performance of civil servants.

Human resource management should be based on career development and individual performance and incorporate unique traditional and cultural factors. This should include a national training policy for the civil service that is linked to performance and career development as well as a civil service performance appraisal policy that can be implemented across the government. Regarding performance appraisal, a reward and punishment system could be established.

A human resource management policy, when implemented, would result in the following:

- 1. A more efficient and effective civil service through enhanced job security;
- 2. The opening up of career opportunities for both young and established Afghan professionals;
- 3. Increased employment in the public sector; and
- 4. The prevention of a brain drain.

A human resource management policy would also feature better planning in terms of civil service needs and recruitment plans for all levels both at the centre and in the provinces. The outcomes would be assessed through the routine monitoring of the policies, laws, regulations, and systems related to the implementation of human resource management.

To ensure timely, accurate, and complete information on the civil service to better support decision-making, planning and policy development, a **Human Resource Management Information System** was developed to provide basic data on the civil service, but it does not meet broader human resources needs. The Human Resource Management Information System needs to be modernised to reflect a more comprehensive human resource management strategy. This would better support the human resource management functions within ministries and agencies at the central and subnational levels, help develop strategic plans and policymaking, and facilitate the transition from data collector to system implementer.

Neither PRR nor P&G accorded sufficient attention to strengthening the cadre management. The IARCSC therefore rightly proposes to establish a system of career-based civil service development, allowing talent to be attracted, hired, and promoted across the core functions of the government.

To develop both common cadres (human resources, financial management, procurement, etc.) and technical cadres (foreign affairs, public health, etc.), national general administrative examinations should be established, while the strength and composition of each cadre should be clearly defined. The cadre management system would establish both technical and common cadres in all sectors of the civil service. The main objective would be the professionalization of the civil service to ensure the relevance of qualifications with the concerned position. Moreover, it would link recruitment with the background education and qualification of potential candidates.

5.3 Capacity-building and training

Only a portion of civil servants have the appropriate skills and capacity to perform their jobs competently. Therefore, it is of uppermost importance to strengthen the skills, capacities, and operational performance of civil servants at all levels through the development and implementation of a national training policy, training strategy, and training plan. As a side effect, this action could even gradually replace costly international experts with Afghan nationals. The existing training policy as well as the Afghan Civil Service Institute's capacity to deliver should be reviewed by a training needs assessment in order to identify the actions for capacity strengthening. In general, there should be a comprehensive programme for inservice training and for new appointees. The training should include different options and modalities from basic knowledge and general or specific skills up to higher-level training. It should address senior and middle-level managers, senior civil servants, and newly recruited junior civil servants. It is also crucial to create opportunities in higher education to develop middle- and high-level civil service managers through Bachelor's and Master's degrees at universities. The education of an elite civil service following the example of the French École Nationale d'Administration (ENA) or German University of Administrative Sciences Speyer could be worthwhile to take into consideration.

The entire training programme should be not restricted to merely imparting specific professional expertise but to educate people in social capital issues so that they become trustworthy, highly committed, and responsible employees and citizens. Moreover, the training policy should be interlinked and correspond with the P&G system.

5.4 Pay and grading system

The current position-based system of P&G does not respond to a professional management system. Therefore, this issue should be immediately addressed and revised so as to produce a fair, consistent, and equitable system of remuneration through the harmonisation of all salary scales and to allow greater differentiation across different sectors of the public service, in particular those requiring specialist technical skills rather than generalist administrative skills. Super scales will need to be phased out gradually and replaced by a fair and equitable scheme that attracts and retains people in the civil service. This would also prevent people from seeking supplementary work in addition to their civil service employment.

Salary reform should be based on the following broad principles:

- Ensuring that public service pay is attractive but affordable to the government;
- Gradually replacing "super scales" and externally funded staff by establishing a unified national P&G system;
- Achieving competitiveness with pay outside of the public service to the extent possible;
- Promoting greater transparency in public pay; and
- Ensuring that there is equal pay for equal work.

Presidential Decree No. 635 was developed to harmonise the **salary scales of national technical assistants** (NTAs)⁴⁹ who work for the Afghan government inside or outside of the tashkeel, including externally funded staff paid by international donors. The NTA scale provides a common pay framework agreed to by donors and designed to accommodate the existing salary payments. The greatest challenge with implementing the NTA scale is that it was designed based on the joint fiscal capacity of the government and the international community. With the reduction in external funding, the current NTA scale is significantly above the pay scale offered to civil servants by the government, and it is therefore unaffordable.

⁴⁹ Government of Afghanistan, "National Technical Assistance Remuneration Policy" (Kabul: Ministry of Finance, 2014).

Given the importance of the NTA scale for securing senior Afghan professional staff, it is important to undertake an assessment of the NTA scale and determine the P&G structure that can fit into the medium-term fiscal and expenditure framework. It even could be necessary to reduce NTA salaries to a level that does not undermine the government's ability to sustain professional capacities through the cadre management system.

5.5 Appointment process

The government needs to signal clearly that favouritism, political interference, and clientelism must stop and be replaced by transparent meritocratic practices for hiring, dismissing, and promoting civil servants. This would result in achieving and ensuring better qualified and better motivated staff. Additionally, this would contribute to creating confidence in the government.

It is therefore necessary to immediately develop and implement a consistent, transparent, and accountable merit-based appointment policy and plan to be applied by the IARCSC's Appointment Board, ministries, agencies, and other government structures at the national and provincial levels. Later on, to supervise and ensure merit-based, fair, and transparent appointments, ministerial and provincial appointment committees should be established.

Given the country's high population growth, there is also an urgent need for a comprehensive and continuous assessment of the prospective personnel needs of the public sector in order to identify the specific demands of the different sectors and, in particular, set out how a steady supply of qualified candidates can be ensured through the education system.

Regarding the participation of women in the civil service and gender equity, there is a huge gap to be addressed. Even private-sector workplaces are not very women-friendly. However, the civil service should be composed of a higher percentage of women in the different layers of administration and management. Although there is a Gender Directorate at the IARCSC for the promotion of gender equality in the civil service, it is overburdened and too weak to tackle and enforce the government's policy on gender equity and female promotion. The Gender Directorate should remain the leading agency in developing a gender-equity, female, and anti-harassment policy, but the obligation of each governmental entity to implement and publically account for it should be implemented by presidential decree.

5.6 Accountability

Accountability within the civil service is crucial with respect to its function and the confidence of the citizens in the state. The rule of law requires legally guaranteed civic rights for the people to be protected against mistreatment such as unlawfulness and the arbitrary behaviour of governmental bodies. People must be entitled by law to claim and defend their rights and to take legal proceedings whenever necessary.

Afghanistan has many civil society platforms and societies that are active, but at the same time, it needs to start accountability from within the government itself. Indeed, there needs to be a greater number of accountability laws in the country.

However, there is only one primary law, the Administrative Procedure Law, that sets out the accountability of civil service ministries to citizens. However, the law is still in the draft phase, and—like many others—it has not yet been endorsed. This should be done without any delay.

An important provision that needs to be considered but has yet not been added to the law is the establishment of administrative tribunals, which could be done either through the Supreme Court or by a parliamentary act. The establishment of this tribunal would resolve problems relating to administrative reform and internal administrative issues within the government structure. The tribunal would also act as an impartial body to adjudge these issues and strengthen people's confidence in the constitutional state and government.

Civil society could also play a pivotal role in terms of governmental accountability, acting as both a watchdog and a partner of the government. Due to the imperfect political mechanisms, civil society could provide citizens with the opportunity to engage in political and economic decision-making. Civil society could establish a culture of advocacy and monitoring by publicly overseeing the government's performance. Civil society normally represents a great opportunity for leveraging transparency and accountability.

Another aspect for engaging civil society in the reform process is to make them communicate with the government on the rights of the people and the government's responsibility to meet their demands. Currently, very few government officials are aware of the basic responsibility of the government, which is to protect citizen's rights and address their demands. For this reason, the government should consider civil society as a vital companion rather than an opponent, and therefore encourage the Afghan people to participate actively. Eventually, this would prove to be another important step toward mutual trust and confidence.

Both the government and the international community are called to support civil society in Afghanistan. The efforts to strengthen civil society should focus on building its management and technical capacity through training and other capacity-building efforts coupled with financial support for the work accomplished. For instance, the MoF could conduct a seminar for civil society representatives to help them understand government budgeting and financial management procedures.

5.7 Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission

Given the multiplicity of functions in the civil service sector and the numerous "heads," even for reforms, the IARCSC should be the leading agency for CSR. This should be clearly communicated and well respected. The IARCSC should be kept away from any political interference. Of uppermost importance is the clear and visible support and acknowledgement given to the IARCSC by the entire government, Parliament, and President.

The IARCSC should remain as the leading entity for providing the strategic direction and management of the civil service and supporting the development of a strong, effective, and efficient system of public administration. Charged with demanding and extensive tasks, the IARCSC requires greater support to strengthen its leadership of the reform programme.

A capable, credible, and effective IARCSC is critical to the implementation of CSR and the creation of a modern system of public administration. While considerable progress has been made in setting up and expanding the IARCSC since its establishment, there remain some significant capacity challenges that, if not addressed, could undermine its ability to effectively discharge its mandate.

The preconditions for the IARCSC to successfully fulfil its important role and function are its independence; the unconditional support of the President; an ambitious, highly committed, and powerful leadership; a highly qualified and adequately salaried personnel; sufficient funding; and—equally important—the respect for its leadership by other stakeholders.

5.8 Private sector

There is only one article in the Procurement Law for public private partnership, although there are private sector development units in every sectoral ministry in the civil service sector. However, there is no overall and clear policy direction for the government to develop private public partnerships. Currently, the MOF, Ministry of Commerce, and Afghanistan Investment Support Agency run private public partnerships in the civil service sector, but without any clear framework and strategy.

It has also been discussed that the IARCSC should outsource its capacity-building programmes to the private sector, universities, and institutions. Indeed, the private sector is an important partner in terms of public service delivery and infrastructure investment. Yet this process needs clear policy guidelines, monitoring, and evaluation by the government.

Furthermore, a well-functioning civil service is needed to carry out these overseeing functions. As long as Afghanistan struggles with various governmental issues and fights on many fronts to establish a functioning and sound civil service, it is reasonable to remain focused on this challenge. However, in the long term, partnering with the private sector could become an interesting option.

With this in mind, proactive measures for the creation of robust systems for procurement and effective frameworks for public-private partnerships could be developed.

In principle, the same applies to the idea of **decentralisation**. Given the country's weaknesses in its central administration and, in particular, the ambivalent experience of decentralisation reforms in other fragile states and developing countries in Asia, the delayed design of such a policy might prove to be advantageous.

5.9 General recommendations

The entire government should focus on CSR. It is impressive to find a vast number of elaborated concepts, projects, and detailed proposals in terms of CSR in Afghanistan. One can find many excellent analyses, studies, strategies, and detailed programmes ready for implementation. However, the process of implementation varies from sluggish to negligent with delaying tactics.

Diligently prepared and designed documents have been placed on the shelves in certain ministries. It is quite extraordinary to witness the lack of a real impetus when it comes to implementation. In this respect, there is a huge gap between planning and implementation. As regards implementation, there is the additional need to develop a comprehensive monitoring framework to ensure the smooth and sustainable implementation of reform programmes.

Of course, major steps toward reforms like law making and restructuring are rather complicated and time-consuming. Yet ordinary people and entrepreneurs are in urgent need of improved service delivery that streamlines administrative processes and simplifies procedures.

It is of critical importance to rapidly prioritise and implement the parts of the agenda that bring the most immediate and demonstrable benefits to the greatest number of citizens. If this does not occur, public support for administrative policy will remain weak. Careful attention should be given to the selection of highly visible landmark projects, which are seen to have a decisive impact on the perception of public administration among citizens and businesses. Perhaps a governmental reward programme on suggestions for CSR could provide adequate proposals for reforms. As a side effect, such staff involvement could also lead to increased satisfaction and commitment. To create or foster people's trust and confidence toward the government, it should be feasible to identify and implement such initiatives oriented toward small impacts. This would also demonstrate that the government cares and is willing to act in terms of CSR.

Policies aimed at increasing public revenues will only be accepted if they are accompanied by visible improvements in public sector performance. The drivers of CSR need to signal their readiness for greater consultation and partnering with citizens as well as their strong commitment toward achieving an efficient, effective, and equitable public sector.

Although administrative policy requires strong leadership, a more citizen-oriented government cannot be enacted "top-down." Reforming the entire country and changing the entrenched systems are huge tasks. Therefore, it might be reasonable to think about **pilot projects**. One could select a few ministries and provinces as pilots and tests suitable for reform measures. This could help pave the way for the expansion of the programme in the future.

Although the IARCSC should undoubtedly continue as the leading entity for CSR, the risk of overlapping competencies, political interference, or rivalry still remains high. To support and protect the IARSC and stress the significance of CSR, the President should establish a **Coordinating Committee** consisting of the relevant ministries and agencies in addition to IARCSC and chaired by the President or/and CEO. This Coordinating Committee could push for, supervise, and evaluate the creation and implementation of CSR measures.

Appendix: Roles and Functions of the Civil Service Ministries

No	Ministry	Roles and functions					
1	Ministry of Agriculture, Irrigation, and Livestock	Introducing and organising agriculture and irrigation policy for the country and monitoring its implementation. Taking necessary measures to rehabilitate and develop forests, pastures, and wild animals, and ensure their protection as well as enhance cooperation with relevant organisations for improving the environment. Taking necessary plans for rehabilitating and developing animal and bird husbandry. Using new and scientific techniques and improving research to increase agricultural products and control their quality. Encouraging private sector investment in agriculture. Fighting animal and plant diseases and associated calamities and managing their control. Taking the necessary measures to find and introduce alternative livelihoods for the purpose of eradicating the cultivation of poppy, hashish, and cocoa plants. Rehabilitating, developing, and maintaining the agricultural irrigation network. Controlling and monitoring foodstuff safety. Taking the necessary measures to rehabilitate and develop gardening. Taking the necessary measures for the economic and social betterment of farmers and ranchers' living conditions with the cooperation of the relevant authorities.					
2	Ministry of Energy and Water	Introducing and preparing the policy for water resource usage and its development. Introducing and preparing effective plans for the distribution and maximum usage of energy and water resources of the country. Establishing new electricity networks and providing electricity to administrations, industrial organisations, cities, districts, and villages. Introducing long-term plans for the usage of water resources based on modern scientific and technical principles. Re-constructing, building, and maintaining dams, canals, and other later water installations.					
3	Ministry of Public Health	Introducing and implementing a balanced health policy and supervising its implementation. Providing health prevention and medical equipment and extending free health facilities through hospitals and health centres to all citizens. Encouraging and supporting the establishment and expansion of medical services and private health centres. Providing health services to the poor, disabled, and families of martyrs and missing people. Taking the necessary measures to eradicate all diseases and prevent the prevalence of contagious diseases. Controlling the production, importation, quality, and distribution of medicine and foodstuff.					

4	Ministry of Education	Introducing and preparing educational and training policies and extending training and education throughout the country. Providing obligatory secondary education (basic). Providing the basis for secondary education. Providing the basis for Islamic, vocational, and technical education and training. Providing the basis for teaching in citizens' native language in areas where the language is spoken by the majority of residents. Drafting, compiling, and implementing a unique educational curriculum based on the provisions of the holy religion of Islam, national culture, and scientific principles. Introducing and implementing effective programmes to eradicate illiteracy in the country. Providing education for women, nomads, and all people in society. Training teachers and ensuring the capacity building of cadres for the improvement of education process. According permits to establish private schools for national and foreign citizens. Publicising, explaining, and analysing educational programmes through the mass media. Printing and publishing books and other publications.					
5	Ministry of Higher Education	Introducing and preparing educational plans and programmes for higher and professional educational institutions. Establishing and managing higher education, general, and professional institutions. Improving the higher and specialised education system to fully meet the needs of the country. Issuing permission letters (licenses) for the establishment of private higher and specialised educational institutions for local and foreign citizens.					
6	Ministry of Public Works	Establishing highways and roads and ensuring their maintenance. Building bridges and airports. Introducing and preparing basic and annual plans for the purpose of regulating affairs related to territorial links. Supervising the quality of buildings, highways, roads, bridges, and airports.					
7	Ministry of Justice	Drafting and scrutinising laws, decrees, international agreements, regulations, articles of associations; and other legislative documents. Providing legal consultations to senior authorities of the government, ministries, and other governmental agencies. Defending the substantial interests of the government in courts. Granting rights in accordance with the provisions of the law. Regulating affairs related to jails and custody. Regulating affairs related to children's training and correction centres. Issuing activation permits and registering political parties and social organisations. Publishing legislative documents and business signs of courts in the Official Gazette.					
8	Ministry of Finance	Preparing the government's budget and monitoring and controlling the implementation of the approved budget. Organising the financial situation of the government. Protecting government property, documents, and assets. Introducing the financial policy of the government. Organising the payment and expenditure affairs of the government. Collecting and organising government revenues. Monitoring the accounts of state-owned enterprises.					

9	Ministry of Communication and Information Technology	Introducing and implementing a policy of information and communication technology. Planning and preparing the development policy of communication infrastructure and facilities and monitoring the implementation process. Regulating and providing postal communication services inside and outside the country and ensuring their control. Regulating and issuing permits for the establishment of communication installations and frequency radio systems and ensuring their supervision. Regulating and managing internal communication affairs and ensuring the connection with other countries. Printing and publishing postage stamps.				
10	Ministry of Mines and Petroleum	Researching and exploring mineral resources and conducting scientific studies of land. Providing geological and topographic maps of land. Introducing and implementing mineral, oil, and gas policies. Surveying the underground resources and providing the basis for the economical exploitation of resources. Processing and formulising minerals, oil, and gas and ensuring their supervision. Regulating and issuing licenses and permission letters for the exploration and extraction of minerals, oil, and gas (hydrocarbons).				
11	Ministry of Refugees and Repatriates	Ensuring the rights of repatriates. Overseeing immigrants' affairs outside the country. Providing the basis for the respectful return of immigrants. Transferring returnees to residential areas via land or air. Providing the means of support for returnees in camps and guest houses before settling them in residential areas.				
12	Ministry of Counter Narcotics	Leading the counter-narcotic campaign in the country. Coordinating the activities and programmes of ministries, agencies, and local and foreign organisations in the counter-narcotic campaign. Supervising and evaluating the implementation of the national strategy of narcotic control as well as the activities and programmes of relevant state agencies and NGOs. Preparing reports on the outcomes of monitoring and evaluation of the relevant agencies' affairs and submitting them to the President's Office and National Assembly. Organising, strengthening, and coordinating the external section of counter narcotics with neighbouring countries, the region, and international organisations.				
13	Ministry of Transportation	Developing transportation policies. Supervising and monitoring transportation policies and strategies. Establishing transportation infrastructure across the country. Providing the basis for the improvement and development of transportation systems. Encouraging investment in transportation facilities across the country.				

14	Ministry of Commerce and Industries	Introducing and preparing internal and external commercial policies in accordance with economic necessities and interests of the nation. Regulating imports and exports for the benefit of the national economy. Improving and increasing products and industries and preparing markets for Afghan products outside the country. Encouraging and supporting foreign and local investments on the basis of market economy system. Following and implementing norms and standard regulations in producing and distributing materials. Providing the basis for improving the private sector through planning and implementing policies.
15	Ministry of Women's Affairs	Drafting, preparing, and implementing cultural, educational, technical, vocational, and professional plans, holding workshops, seminars, conferences, and cultural and social sessions in different fields for the capacity-building of women for their access to opportunities. Expanding gender equality in society. Introducing and implementing development plans in balancing women's economical and business activities in the centre and provinces in the national development framework. Taking the necessary measures for the spiritual, civil, and legal rights of women. Supervising the implementation and fulfilment of strategies, commitments, working plans, and other activities relevant to women's lives.
16	Ministry of Foreign Affairs	Ensuring the diplomatic relationship of the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan with other foreign governments and international organisations. Providing the basis for observing the United Nation Charter, Human Rights Declaration, treaties with foreign governments, and international conventions. Developing the country's foreign policy on the basis of the Afghan Constitution. Providing assistance to ensure the relations and cooperation of the government, authorities, agencies, and NGOs of the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan with the authorities, agencies, and organisations of foreign countries and international organisations.
17	Ministry of Rural Rehabilitation and Development	Planning effective programmes for rural development in accordance with the needs of people. Ensuring the improvement of rural crafts. Making decisions about the extension of suitable economic and technological improvements in villages. Establishing, repairing, and building small electronic networks and water and irrigation systems in villages with the help of the relevant authorities. Presenting basic and substructure services to the rural population.
18	Ministry of Urban Development	Introducing the policy and strategy of urban development. Introducing and preparing the urban master plans. Designing and preparing urban plans and projects. Planning and designing governmental buildings and directing the affairs of industrial buildings and governmental and non-governmental factories. Introducing urban service plans for irrigation, canalisation, environmental protection, and city transport. Supervising the implementation of urban plans and projects.

19	Ministry of Hajj and Islamic Affairs	Ensuring the observance and expansion of Islamic values. Ensuring freedom for the performance of the religious rites of Muslims and followers of other religions. Guiding, promoting, and directing virtues, good preachment, and prevention of propagation against Islam. Identifying immorality and its prevention in cooperation with relevant authorities. Analysing religious jurisprudence disputes and issuing Islamic orders in its regard. Organising affairs related to the Hajj and visiting holy places both inside and outside the country. Supervising the construction and repair of mosques and holy places.
20	Ministry of Borders and Tribal Affairs	Strengthening national unity and brotherhood among all ethnicities living in Islamic Republic of Afghanistan. Mobilising and assembling all ethnic groups and tribes to defend national independence, integrity, and benefits. Supporting and defending the good and peace-loving objectives of all ethnic groups and tribes and gaining their cooperation for the security and reconstruction of the country. Looking after the affairs of tribes and ethnic groups along the frontiers.
21	Ministry of Economy	Introducing and preparing the policy and strategy of the government's economic development based on the market economy, and controlling and monitoring economic activities in the country. Regulating and coordinating economic, social, reconstruction, and rehabilitation development activities. Planning and arranging development projects with a separation of sectors and identification of priorities. Supervising, inspecting, and arranging the work of local and foreign NGOs and providing work licenses for them. Ensuring the balanced growth and development of the national economy in cities, provinces, and districts.
22	Ministry of Information and Culture	Implementing and extending freedom of speech. Taking measures to preserve and improve national cultural heritage, culture, art, and courtesy in the country. Preserving historical, cultural, and ancient monuments. Promoting the country's culture and tradition by establishing tourist organisations. Planning and arranging the national policy for youths based on the holy religion of Islam and national and international values and supervising its implementation. Providing the basis for the overall participation and active presence of youths in the fields of social, economic, political, and cultural life.

		Providing work apportunities for qualified citizens in cooperation
23	Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs, Martyrs, and Disabled	Providing work opportunities for qualified citizens in cooperation with other government administrations. Providing the ministries with highly specialised cadres and coordinating expert and skilled training. Drafting work-related legislative documents and giving technical consultations in the areas of work and social affairs. Monitoring the observance of labour laws and other related legislative documents and giving methodological guidance in this regard. Extending logical methods and kinds of wage payment, and improving work safety, the technical safety environment, and standards and rules related to labour in different areas of the economy. Adopting plans to provide a favourable work environment, prevent work inefficiency, and support work discipline. Regulating affairs related to the recruitment of foreign citizens. Regulating affairs related to vocational and technical training centres and job searching services. Regulating affairs related to kindergartens and nurseries and establishing and developing orphanages to take care of, supervise, and support children. Organising the work affairs of the disabled in administrative and productive areas of governmental, mixed, or private agencies with respect to individuals' education, expertise, and work abilities. Regulating affairs related to the pension of civil servants. Introducing legislative documents related to the rights and privileges of the disabled and family members of martyrs and supervising their implementation. Providing basic services for the disabled and family members of martyrs. Preparing complete statistics on the disabled and martyrs with the cooperation of the Central Statistics Agency. Regulating, determining, and paying rights and privileges to the disabled and family members of missing people, captives, and martyrs.
24	Ministry of Defence	Defending the sovereignty of the country and taking necessary measures in this regard. Defending and protecting the independence, national sovereignty, and territorial integrity of the country. Making and implementing the national military strategy. Increasing the defence and structural abilities in accordance with geographical and security necessities of the country. Delivering assistance to civil society in emergency conditions.
25	Ministry of Interior	Introducing and implementing the internal security strategy. Ensuring security and protecting the country's borders. Establishing and maintaining public order and security in the country. Fighting against and preventing crimes. Detecting crimes and arresting suspects or the accused. Improving security capacities. Taking the necessary measures to regulate traffic affairs on the roads. Taking the necessary measures for fire extinction. Implementing the final and last decisions of courts. Arranging affairs relevant to population registration and passport distribution.
26	State Ministry for Parliamentary Affairs	Managing and coordinating the parliamentary affairs of the state and ensuring the proper coordination, efficiency, and requisite standardisation in parliamentary affairs. Strengthening the separation of powers of the state.

Bibliography

Duffield, Mark. "Review of the Strategic Framework for Afghanistan." Kabul: Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit, 2001.

Government of Afghanistan. "Government of National Unity Deal." Kabul: Administrative Office of the President, 2014.

Government of Afghanistan. "Towards Self-Reliance: Strategic Vision for the Transformation Decade." Kabul: Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012.

World Bank. "Governance and Development." Washington, DC: World Bank, 1992.

Government of Afghanistan. "National Technical Assistance Remuneration Policy." Kabul: Ministry of Finance, 2014.

Government of Afghanistan. "New Generation of Public Administration Reform Draft Document." Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2015.

Government of Afghanistan. "Priority Reform and Restructuring Strategic Work Plan." Kabul: Government of Afghanistan, 2003.

Government of Afghanistan. "Public Administration Reform Strategy." Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2003.

Government of Afghanistan. "Civil Servants Law Draft Document." Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2015.

Government of Afghanistan. "Administrative Procedure Law Draft Document." Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2015.

Government of Afghanistan. "Civil Service Law." Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2003.

Government of Afghanistan. "Constitution of Afghanistan." Kabul: Ministry of Justice, 2004.

45

Additional Reading Material

"Afghanistan Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2010-2011." Kabul: Central Statistics Office and UNICEF, 2012.

Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit. "A to Z Guide to Afghanistan, Eighth Edition." Kabul: Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit, 2010.

Armstrong, Michael. "A Handbook of Human Resource Management Practice." 11th edition. London and Philadelphia: Kogan Pages, 2009.

Cookman, Colin, and Caroline Wadhams. "Governance in Afghanistan: Look Ahead to What We Leave Behind." Washington, DC: Center for American Progress, 2010.

Evans, Anne, Nick Manning, and Anne Tully with Yasin Osmani and Andrew Wilder. "Subnational Administration in Afghanistan: Assessment and Recommendations for Action." Kabul: Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit, 2004.

Government of Afghanistan. "Afghanistan Administrative Policy: Choices towards Consolidation." Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2014.

Government of Afghanistan. "Afghanistan Civil Servants Law (Official Gazette)." Kabul: Afghanistan Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2007.

Government of Afghanistan. "Afghanistan National Development Strategy." Kabul: Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2008.

Government of Afghanistan. "Pay and Grading in Civil Service Ministries and Agencies (Official Gazette)." Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Reform, n.d.

Government of Afghanistan. "Organic Law/Law of Basic Structure of Government (Official Gazette)." Kabul: Ministry of Justice, 2005.

Government of Afghanistan. "Self-Reliance through Mutual Accountability Framework." Kabul: Government of Afghanistan, 2015.

Government of Afghanistan. "Sub-national Governance Policy." Kabul: Independent Directorate of Local Governance, 2010.

Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission. "100-Day Work Plan (Jawza-Asad 1394)." Kabul: Independent Administrative Reform and Civil Service Commission, 2015.

Jones, Bruce, and Rahul Chandran. "Concepts and Dilemmas of State Building in Fragile States: From Fragility to Resilience." New York: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2008.

Keuleers, Patrick. "Civil Service Personnel Management." Bangkok: United Nations Development Programme, 2004.

Kremer, Monique, Peter van Leishout, and Robert Went. "Doing Good or Doing Better: Development Policies in a Globalizing World." Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press, 2009.

Lister, Sarah. "Moving Forward? Assessing Public Administration Reform in Afghanistan." Kabul: Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit, 2006.

Mathis, Robert L., and John H. Jackson. Human Resource Management. Mason, OH: Thomson/South-western, 2003.

Ministry of Agriculture, Irrigation and Livestock. "Transformation Roadmap and Communication Plan." Kabul: Ministry of Agriculture Irrigation and Livestock, 2009.

Ministry of Economy and Ministry of Finance. "Capacity Building for Results Program." Kabul: Civil Service Management Department/CBR Project Support Unit, 2014.

Nijat, Arya, and Ruwan Ubeysekara. "Governance in Afghanistan: An Introduction." Kabul: Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit, 2014.

Noe, Raymond A. "Fundamentals of Human Resource Management." New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Irwin, 2003.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. "Government at a Glance." Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2011.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. "Together for Better Public Services: Partnering with Citizens and Civil Society." Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2011.

Recardo, Ronald J. "Organization Design: A Practical Methodology and Toolkit." Amherst, MA: HRD Press, 2008.

"Rethinking Public Administration: An Overview." New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 1995.

Robbins, Stephen P. "Organizational Behavior: Concepts, Controversies and Applications." Englewook Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, 1993.

Saltmarshe, Douglas and Medhi, Abhilash. "Local Governance in Afghanistan: A View from the Ground." Kabul: Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit, 2011.

World Bank. "Building an Effective State: Priorities for Public Administration Reform." Washington, DC: World Bank, 2008.

World Bank. "Doing Business: Reforming through Difficult Times." Washington, DC: World Bank, 2010.

47

Request for Feedback

AREU is very interested to hear from its research users. Whether you are a regular reader ofour publications, have attended an AREU lecture or workshop, use the library, or have only just become familiar with the organisation, your opinions and feedback are valuable. They can help us deliver on our mandate as best we can by informing our approach to research and the way we communicate results. The easiest way to provide feedback is to email areu@areu.org.af.

Alternatively, you can call +93 (0)799 608 548. You are free to tell us what you like, but some potentially useful information is:

- How you engage with AREU (i.e., through publications, meetings, etc.)
- What you use AREU research for
- How you receive AREU publications
- Whether you use hard or soft copy versions
- How publications could better present information to you
- Your thoughts on our research processes or results
- Suggested areas of research
- Your favourite AREU publications or events
- · What you believe we could do better
- Your field of interest, employment or study, as well as location

Recent Publications from AREU

All publications are available for download at www.areu.org.af, and most in hardcopy for free from the AREU office in Kabul.

Date	Publication Name	Author	Available in Dari	Available in Pashto	Research Theme	Publication Type
July 2016	The Role of Civil Society in Promoting Good Governance in Afghanistan	Orzala Ashraf Nemat and Karin Werner			Civil Society and Governance	Issues Paper
July 2016	Subnational Governance in Afghanistan	Aarya Nijat; Kristof Gosztonyi; Basir Feda, and Jan Koehler			Subnational Governance	Issues Paper
July 2016	Bringing the State Closer to the People: Deconcentrating Planning and Budgeting in Afghanistan	Nematullah Bizhan; Ferhat Emil and Haroon Nayebkhail			Provincial Planning and Budgeting and Governance	Issues Paper
May 2016	A Balancing Act for Extractive Sector Governance	Javed Noorani and Lien De Broukere			Mining & Governance	Issues Paper
May 2016	Developing transboundary water resources: What perspectives for cooperation between Afghanistan, Iran and Pakistan?	Vincent Thomas with Mujib Ahmad Azizi and Khalid Behzad			Natural Resource Management	Case Study
May 2016	A Closer Look at Men and "Masculinities": Their Proactive Contribution to Gender Equality	Leah Wilfreda RE Pilongo, Chona R. Echavez, Pervaiz Tufail, SayedMahdi Mosawi	ſ	ſ	Gender	Policy Note
April 2016	A State Built on Sand: How Opium Undermined Afghanistan	David Mansfield			Natural Resource Management	Book
April 2016	Briefing Note on Fieldwork in Kandahar Province, December 2015 - January 2016: Opium Poppy and Rural Livelihoods	Paul Fishtein	ſ	ſ	Natural Resource Management	Brief
March 2016	The Afghan National Army After ISAF	Antonio Giustozzi & Ali Mohammad Ali			Governance	Briefing Paper
February 2016	The Devil is in the Details: Nangarhar's continued decline into insurgency, violence and widespread drug production	David Mansfield	ſ	ſ	Natural Resource Management	Brief

Date	Publication Name	Author	Available in Dari	Available in Pashto	Research Theme	Publication Type
February 2016	The Political Economy of Education and Health Service Delivery In Afghanistan	AREU			Governance & Political Economy	Issue Paper
January 2016	Household Water Insecurity: Changing Paradigm for Better Farming the Realities of Sustainable Access to Drinking Water in Afghanistan	Thomas Vincent	ſ	ſ	Sustainable Livelihoods	Discussion Paper
January 2016	The Other Side of Gender Inequality: Men and Masculinities in Afghanistan	Chona R. Echavez; SayedMahdi Mosawi, and Leah Wilfreda RE Pilongo	ſ	ſ	Gender	Issues Paper







All AREU publications can be downloaded from our website (www.areu.org.af).

Many are also available for free in hardcopy from the AREU office in Kabul.

Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit

Hs. 144, 3rd street on the left from Charahi Haji Yacoub toward Charahi Shaheed, First block on the right Shahr-i-Naw Kabul, Afghanistan

Phone: +93 (0) 799 608 548 Email: areu@areu.org.af Website: www.areu.org.af

